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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR' S REPORT 

The Honorable Eugene Foulcard, Mayor 
And the Honorable Members of the City Council 

City of Franklin, Louisiana 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Adverse and Unmodified Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type 
activities, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Franklin, Louisiana (hereinafter 
"City"), as of and for the year ended April 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the City's primary governrnent (hereinafter "basic financial 
statements") as listed in the table of contents. 

Adverse Opinion on Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units 

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the Basis for Adverse and Unmodified 
Opinions section of our report, the financial statements referred to above do not present fairly the financial position 
of the aggregate discretely presented component units of the City, as of April 30, 2024, or the changes in financial 
position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 

Unmodified Opinions on Governmental Activities, Business-Type Activities, Each Major Fund and Aggregate 
Remaining Fund Information 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, and aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City, as of April 30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position and, 
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Adverse and Unmodified Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the City, and to meet our other ethical responsihilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we ha% c obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our adverse and unmodified audit opinions. 

Matters.  Giving Rae to Adveise Opnnon on Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units 

The financial statements do not include financial data for the City's legally separate component units. 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require the financial data for those 
component units to he reported with the financial data of thr City's primary government unless thr City also issues 
fmancial statements for the financial reporting entity that include the financial data for its component units. The 
City has not issued such reporting entity financial statements. The effects of not including the City's legally separate 
component units on the aggregate discretely presented component units have not been determined. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As described in Note 15, the prior period financial statements ha% e heen restated to correct an error. Our 
opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Respansibilitks of Management for the Finuncial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. and for the desien, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements. management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt ahout the City's ahility to continue as a going 
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that 
may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance hut is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Audinng Standards 
will always detect a material nusstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, foreery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations. or the ovenide of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, inch% idually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements. 

In perfbnning an audit in accordance with generally acc;epted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we. 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those nsks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 



• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial 
statements 

• Conclude whether. in our judgment. there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period 
of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit. significant audit findings. and certain internal control-related matters that we 
identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that budgetary 
comparison schedules, schedule of employer's share of net pension liability, and schedule of employer pension 
contributions he presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Govenunental Accounting 
Standards Board. who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 
procedures to thr required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquines. the hasic 
financial statements. and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the budgetary comparison schedules, schedule of employer's 
share ot net pension liability, schedule of employer pension contributions. and notes to required supplementary 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 

The City has omitted rnanagement's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the hasic financial statements. Such missing 
information, although not a part of the basic financial stateinents, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic. or historical context. Our opinions on the basic financial 
statements are not affected by this missing information. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the hasic financial statements. The accompanying justice system funding schedule, Louisiana Community 
Development Block Grant schedule, and schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, L:nijiirni Administrative Requirements. Cost Principles. and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of 
the basic fmancial statements. Such information is the responsibility of the City's management and was denved 
from and relates directly to the underlyine accounting and other records used to prepare the basic tinancial 
statements. The supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures. including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themseh es, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the justice system funding schedule, Louisiana Community 
Det elopment Block Grant schedule. and schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated. in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information 
comprises the combining noninajor fund financial statements as listed in the table of contents but does not include 
the basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do 
not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic 
fmancial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required 
to describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards. we hal, e also issued our report dated October 29, 
2024 on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters The purpose of that report 
is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reportina and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit perfbrmed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control over tinancial reporting and compliance. 

Kolder, Sloven & Company, LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Morgan City. Louisiana 
October 29, 2024 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Net Position 
Apail 30. 2024 

 

Primary Cioverninent 

  

Goverimiental Business-Type 
Activities Activities Total 

ASSETS 

Current assets: 
Cash 
Receivables. net 
Due from other governments 
Internal halances 
Repaid expense 

Total ctment assets 

$ 838,508 
678.329 

1.021.232 
954.238 
1440 731 

$ - 
637.706 

3,466 
(954.2S3) 

15.870 

S 838.508 
1.316.035 
1.024,698 

116.601 
; ;93 INS (297.246) 3,195.8.1' 

Nuncnnent assets: 

   

Resta icted assets 

 

412.801 412.801 
Capital assets-

    

Land and construction in paogiess 6.914,220 12.160 6.926.380 
Other, net of accuundated depreciation.amornzation 12.287.513 4.079,433 16.366.946 

Total noncurrent assets 19,21)1.733 -3.50-4,39-1 23.706.127 

Total assets 22.794.821 4.207.14N 27.00 I ,969 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

   

Deferred ourtlms related to net pensinn Irahility 1.849 516 219.'03 2.063.719 

LIABILITIES 

   

Current liabilities: 

   

Cash nverdrati 

 

237,976 237,976 

Accounts and other payables 1.764.775 MiOn7 2,104.982 
Acenied liabilities 442.183 41M61 483.244 
Conn acts and notes payable 72.888 11.066 83.954 

Long-lerm 

   

Ih►e within one vear: 

   

Current portion of long-term obligations 339.747 316.157 655.9114 
Due in more rhan one yea': 

   

Net pension liability 4,932.764 819.0-15 5.751.809 
Customer deliosits 

 

267.982 267.982 

Noncurrent poi lion uf long-tenn obligations 1 ,598.952 2.356,715 4.955.667 

Total liabilities 10.151.309 4.390.209 14.541.518 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

   

Deferred inflows ielated to net pension liability 196.824 35,064 '31.888 

NET POSITION 

   

Net investment in capital assets 16,050.295 1.418,721 17,469.016 

Restricted 

   

Debt service 34,402 300,801 335,203 
Other purposes 20,584 

 

20,5£kl 

Unrestricted (deficit) i I.809.077) (1.718.444) (3.527,521) 

Total net position $ 14.296 204 $ 1,078 S 1-1,297.282  

The nerranpanring notes tn final:mai statements are an naegral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN. LOUISIANA 

Statenient ;if Activities 
Year Ended Apnl 30, 2024 

 

Program Re‘enues 

 

Net (Expense) Revenue 
and (lianas in Net Position 

 

Fees. Commissions, Operating 
Fines. and Charges Grants and 

Capital 
Grants and Governmental Biismess-type 

 

Functions:Programs Expenses for Services Contrilaitions Contnloutions Activities Activities Total 
G, ,vernmental activities. 

     

General govertunent: 

     

Administrative $ 665.623 $ 452,574 $ 6,140 $ $ (20(+ 909) $ - $ (206,9O) 
Judicial 598.063 146,204 8.136 

 

(443 723) - (443.723) 
Public safety: 

     

Fire 1.111.307 44,648 73,809 

 

(992.850) 

 

(992,850) 
Police 2.250.202 190,444 122.732 - (1.937.026) 

 

(1.937,026) 
Public w, orb 907 969 - 12.596 83,176 (812 197) 

 

(812.1971 
Other twirling 144 914 146.350 

 

I 436 

 

I ,436 
Recreation 532.086 3.711 1 A40,383 1.112 008 

 

1.112,008 
Sanitation 1547.784 945.'35 17,981 191,346 (1.393.222) 

 

O.393,2221 
Conimunity olevelopment 96.498 20,828 2,503,639 2.427.969 

 

2.427,969 
Food services 49.413 49.637 - 224 

 

224 
Inteiest on long renn debt I 20.957 - (120 1,57) 

 

(120.957) 

Total governmental activities 9 024 816 I.779,105 461.920 4.416.54-1 (2.365 247) 

 

(2.365,247) 

Busuiess-type ac uv i ties: 

     

Water 2 599.746 2.2(P9,785 

  

(389.961) (389,961) 
Inteiest on long renn debt 90.231 - - - (90 231) (90.231) 

Total business-type activities 2 689.977 2.209,785 - 

 

)O,0 192) 460.192) 

Total government S 11 714.793 $ 3.988,890 S 461.920 S 4.418,544 (2 365 247) (460 1921 ) 7 .845.439) 

 

General revenues: 

     

Taxes 

     

Ail valorem taxes 

 

787.251 

 

787,251 

 

Fianchise 

 

412.206 

 

411206 

 

Sales 

 

3 144 130 

 

3.14.4.130 

 

Intergovernmental 

 

257.231 

 

1 57.'31 

 

Interest awl Investment earnings 

 

1.649 533 2,182 

 

Insurance dixsolends 

 

188.175 

 

188.175 

 

Rentals 

 

51.455 

 

51,455 

 

Cemetery anol mausoleuni sales 

 

96.867 

 

96.867 

 

Miscellane,ous 

 

110.871 19.801 130,672 

 

Gam on dispoSit ion of fixed assets 

 

63 714 

 

(+3.714 

 

Transteis 

 

562 634 I:562 634) - 

 

Total general revenues and nansfeis 

 

5.676.363 i542.590) 5.133,883 

 

Change in net position 

 

3.311.136 ( I .022.692) 2.288,444 

 

Net position. betanning. as restated 

 

10.985.068 1.023.770 I2.008.838 

 

Net position eliding 

 

14 296 204 1 1 976 $ 14.297,262 

The decumptintvng notes to fineuterai :wiententi are tot lowera: parr of Om :intentent s 
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CITY OF FRANKLLN. LOUISIANA 

Balauce Sheet 
Governmental Funds 

April 30. 2024 

 

t ',eneral 

I_ iguld 
and solid 

Wo,te 
Capital 
Outhy 

Other 
Gtwernmental 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 
ASSETS 

     

Cash and interem-bearing deposits $ 489,648 lo 83.314 S 210.560 $ 54.986 $ 838,508 
Receivables 

     

Taxes 362.422 195,-134 

  

557,856 
Accounts 120.473 

 

- 

 

120.473 
Due froni other funds - 1,802 1,011,-116 

 

1,013,218 
Due from other governments 993.095 19.305 8.832 

 

1.021.232 
Advames to othei funds 

 

797,703 - 

 

797,703 
Prepaid expendi nu es 84.867 15.864 

  

100.731 

To ital assets $ 2.050.505 S 1.113.-122 S 1.230.808 $ 54.986 $ 4.449,721 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

     

Liabihnes 

     

.Accoutits parable $ 55.545 S 50-1,257 S 1.204,973 $ $ 1.764.775 
Due to othei funds 656.633 ono 

  

856.633 
.Accrued 158,946 25.9(14 212,739 

 

197.649 
Notes payable 62.511 1'O77 

  

72,888 

Total liabilities ,n; 635 74i i.598 1.417.712 

 

+!µi1.945 

Fund balances 

     

Nonspendable 118.723 15.864 

 

- 134.587 
Restricted 

 

- - 5-1.986 54,986 
Coninutted 

 

356,9O 65-1,634 - 1,011,594 
Assigned 76.723 - - 

 

76.723 
UllaSsigned 921.424 

 

(841.5381 

 

79,886 

Total fund balances 1,116.870 372.S2-1 ( 1 66.94 141 5-1.986 1.357,776 

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 2.050.505 S L113.422 S I .230,F0F S 5-1.986 $ 4.44),721 

(Continued) 

1 (1 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Balance Sheet (continued) 
Governmental Funds 

April 30, 2024 

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds' Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position 

Total fund balances for governmental funds at April 30. 2024 

Cost of capital assets: 

 

$ 1.357.776 

Land $ 864,766 

 

Construction in progress 6,049,454 

 

Capital assets, net of accuinulated depreciation 12,287,513 19,201.733 

Deferred outflows of resources related to net pension liability 

 

1,849,516 

Long-tem liabilities: 

  

Long-teim obligations 

 

2.938,699) 
Net pension liability 

 

(4,932,7(►4) 

Accrued interest payable 

 

(44.534) 

I)eferreil inflows of resources related to net pension liability 

 

(196,824) 

Net position at April 30, 2024 

 

$ 14,296,204 

The accompanying notes lo financial statements are an integral part of tins statement 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN. LOUISIANA 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and ( -hangs in Fund Balances 
Goverutnental Funds 

Year Ended April 30. 2024 

 

Genet al 

Liquid 
alai Solid 

Waste 
Capital 
()inlay 

Other 
Giiverninental 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 
Revenues: 

     

Taxes 1, 2.977,903 $1,365,664 $ S $ 4,343.587 
Licenses and peinuts 442.196 

   

442.196 
Ilitergovernmental 4.866,897 191,3-11 83 1 76 54,377 5,195.791 
Illsairance iebares 188.175 

   

188.175 
Fees. ct .iimussit gas. and charges tor services 

 

945,735 

  

945.235 
Fines and forfeits 155,445 

   

155.445 
Rentals 51,455 

   

51.455 
Interest income 1,581 3 5S 7 1.649 
Cemetery phi( and mausoleum sale.- 96,667 

   

96.867 
Miscellaneous 169.730 

   

169.730 
Iotal revenues i.90.2-19 2. 50".261 83.'34 54,354 11.590 130 

Expendilin 

     

Cuitent - 

     

General goveminent: 

     

Adnuwsnauve 493.801 

   

493.801 
Judicial 612.786 

   

612,786 
Public safety: 

     

File 953.315 

   

953.315 
Police 2.067.-146 

  

4.968 2.072 414 
Public works: 

     

Streets and diainage 796,208 

   

798.208 
Other firmling 144,914 

   

144.914 
Recreant ni 376,527 

   

376.577 
Sanitation 

 

2,3211,059 

  

7.370059 
Community development 67,119 

   

67.114 
Foo.1 services 

   

49.413 49 413 
Miscellaneous 

  

477 

 

477 
Debt service - 

     

Puncipal 124.491 55.000 

 

1311,9(4 310.455 
Interest and fiscal charges 47.522 10,457 

 

31.521 89 500 
vital outlay 499.673 86,659 4.842.466 

 

5,431.389 

Ttital expenditures 6.185.602 1.477,175 4.842.9.43 219.-157 13,72(1.377 

Excess tdeticienc ) of revenues 
ovei expendituie% 2,764,447 30,088 (-1.759.709) O65.0731 (2.130.247) 

Mei financing sources (u.ses): 

     

Issuance of debl 786.160 

   

786.160 

Proceeds from sale of assets 73.763 - 

  

73 763 

Tiansfeis in 94,568 20.000 3.876.538 170,400 -1.161.506 

Tiansfers tan 13.501.9381 176,734) (20.000) 

 

(3,598.672) 
Total othei financing souices fuses) (2.5-17.447) (56.734) 3.856.538 170.400 1.422.757 

Ner change in fund balances '17.000 (26,646) (903.171) 5,317 (7(17.4AM) 

Fund balances, beginning. as restated 899..S70 399,-470 716.267 49.650 2,(165.266 

Fund balances, ending $ 1.116.870 $ 372,824 $ (186.904) S 54,986 S 1,357.776 

(continued) 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Revenues. Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances tcontinued) 
Governmental Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Reconciliation of the Statement of ReNenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of 
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 

Total net change in fund balances for the year ended April 30, 2024 per Statement 
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances S (707,490) 

Cost of capital assets acquired or constructed 5,431.389 

Deprec a t ion'a mon iz at on expense (687,978) 

The net effect of vanous miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets 
e., sales) (194.031) 

Principal payments on bonds and lease obligations 310,455 

Change in accrued interest t31,457) 

Revenue and general obligation bond proceeds provide current tinancial 
resources to the governmental funds. hut issuing debt increases lone-term 
liabilities in the statement of net position 

Effects of recording net pension liability and deferred inflows and outflows 
of resources related to net pension liability: 

Change in pension expense 
Nonemployer pension contribution revenue 

(786.160) 

(142,869) 
119,277   

Total change in net position for the year ended April 30. 2024 per 

Statement of Activities S 3,311,136 

The accompanymg tunes to financial statements arc an integral part af this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 

April 30. 2024 

Water 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 

Recen allies, net 
Due frorn other governments 
Prepaid expenses 
Due from other funds 

Total current assets 

$ 637.706 
3.466 

15.870 
43.415 

70(1..457  

Noncurrent assets: 
Restricted assets 
Capital assets: 

Land and constniction in pnigress 
Other, net of accumulated deprecianon 

Total noncurrent assets 

  

412.801 

12.160 
4.079.433  
4.504.394     

Total assets 5,104.851 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outflms of resources related to net pension liability 219.203 

LIABILITIES 
Liabilities: 

Current liabilities: 
Cash overdraft 
Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 
Notes payabk 
Lease oblieation 
Financed purchase agreement 
Due to other funds 
Payable from restricted assets-

 

Revenue bonds 

Total current liabilities 

237.976 
340.207 

41.061 
11.066 
1.160 

202.997 
200.000 

112.000  
1,1.46.417  

Noncurrent liabilities 
Net pension liability 
Financed purchase agreement 
Revenue bonds 
Advances from other funds 
Customer deptisits 

Total noncurrent liabilities 
Total liahilities 

  

819.045 
308.715 

2,048.000 
797.703 
267.982  

4.241.445  
5.387.912     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows ot resources related to net pension liability 35.064.  

NET POSITION 
Net mvestment in capital assets 1.418.721 
Restricted 300.801 
Unrestricted (deficit) (1.718.444) 

Total net position $ 1.078 

The acrompanting noif-s Fn./Moneta! rhnenunnv are on integral part .!1' this Armen:on. 
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CITY OF FRANKLEN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Fund Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2024 

 

Water 

Operatmg enues: 

Charees for services-

  

Water sales $ 1.843,962 

Street lights 180,381 

Mosquito control 69,169 

Other 116,273 

Miscellaneous 19,8(11 

Total operatine revenues 7.1)9,586 

Operating expenses: 

 

Administrative and finance 603,018 

Water production 867,123 

Water distribution 356,859 

Meter department 121,344 

Street light fees 204,111 

Depreciation 373,8(17 

Mosquito control 72,004 

Miscellaneous 1,480 

Total operating expense 2.599,746 

Operating income (loss) (370,160) 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 

 

Interest income 533 

Interest and fiscal charges (90,231) 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (89,(98) 

Loss before transfers (459,858) 

Transfers out (562,834) 

Change in net position ( 1,022,692) 

Net position, he 2 inning. as restated 1,023,770 

Net position, ending 1,078 

Thc accompanying notes to financial statements are an inwral port of thff statement. 
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CITY C)F FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Cash Flom 
Proprietary Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2024 

 

Water 

CASH FLOWS FROM C)PERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

Receipts from customers and users $ 2,264.803 
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (1,479,974) 
Payrnents to employees (814.859) 

Net cash used by operating activities (30,030) 

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINIANCLNG ACTIVITIES 

 

Payments to other funds (276,600) 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (35.476) 
Interest and fiscal charges paid (90,231) 
Proceeds from revenue bonds issued 600,000 
Pnncipal paid on - 

 

Revenue bonds (80,000) 
Leases t 7.820) 

Financed purchase obligations (203,026) 

Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities 183.447 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 

Interest on interest-hearing deposits 533 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (122.(i5(1) 

Cash anð cash equivalents, beginning 297,475 

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 174.825 

(continued) 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 
Proprietary Funds 

Year Ended April 30. 2024 

Water 

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used by operating activities: 

Operating loss $ (370.160) 

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash provided 
by operating activities: 

Depreciation 373.807 
Pension expense, net of noneniployer contributions (31.5(17) 
Changes in assets and liabilities. 

Accounts receivable 57,136 
Due from other governments 
Prepaid expenses (1,7(11) 
Accounts payable and other liabilities (59.743) 
Accrued liabilities 6.427 
Notes payable 772 
Customer deposits (5,383) 

Total adjustments 340,130  

Net cash used by operating activities S (30,030) 

Non-cash investing activities. 
Assets acquired by capital lease S 24.443 

Reconcihation of cash and cash equivalents per statement 
of cash flows to the statement of net position. 

Cash and cash equivalents. begmning - 
Cash - unrestricted 
Cash - restricted 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

$ (91,848) 
389,3 '3  
297,475 

   
Cash and cash equivalents. ending - 

Cash - unrestricted 
Cash - restricted 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

(237.976) 
412.801 
174,825     

Net change in cash and cash equivalents S (122,650) 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integnil part of this slalement 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

( I) Summary of Significant Accountin2 Policies 

The Oty of FranMin ("Cay") was incorporated April 15, 1876. under the provisions of a special 
charter. The City operated under a Mayor-Council form of government until August 1, 2004, at which time 
the City adopted a Home Rule Charter and now operates under an elected Mayor-Council, administrative-
legislative fomi of government. The City 's operations include police and fue protection, streets and drainage, 
parks and recreation, residential waste collection services, certain social services and general and 
administration services. The City owns and operates an enterprise fund which provides water services. 

The accounting and reporting policies of the City rdating to the funds included in the accompanying 
tinancial statements conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
applicable to state and local governments. Such accountim and reporting procedures also conform to the 
requirements of Louisiana Revised Statutes 24:513, the Louisiana Governmental Audit Gude and to the 
industry audit guide, Audits qf State and Local Governmental Units. 

The following is a summary of certain significant accounting policies: 

A. Financial Reporting Entity 

The financial reporting entitv consists of (a) the primary government. (b) organizations for 
which the primary government is financially accountable and (c) other organizations for which the nature 
and squificance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause 
the reporting entitys tinancial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 

GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended, established criteria for 
determining which component units should be considered part of the City for financial reporting 
purposes. The basic criterion for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity is 
financial accountahility. The GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining tinancial 
accountability. This criterion includes: 

1. Appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body, and 
a) The ahilitv of the City to irnpose its will on that organization anktor 
h) The potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or to impose 

specific financial burdens on the City. 

Organizations for which the City does not appoint a voting minority hut are fiscally 
dependent upon the City. 

3. Organizations for which the reporting entity's tinancial statements would be misleading if 
data of the organization is not included because of the nature or significance of the 
relationship. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Component Units — 

Based on the previous criteria, the City has two component units, the City Court of the City of 
FranUm (City Court) and the Ward Three Marshal of the Parish of St. Mary (Marshal's Office). 

The City Court operates a court for the City of Franldin and the territorial jurisdiction throughout 
Ward Three of St. Mary Parish, Louisiana. The City Court collects all fines, forfeitures, penalties and 
costs assessed. The city judge is elected for a six-year term. The City Court's fiscal year end.s on June 
30, which is different from that of the City, the primary government. The C'ity provides the facilities in 
which the City Court operates and has approval authority over certain expenditures of the City Court. 
Complete fmancial statements issued by the City Court may be obtained directly from the City Court at 
508 ri Street, Franklin, Louisiana 70538. 

The Marshal's Office accounts for the activities of the Marshal in earrying out the duties of the 
City Court. The expense of carrying out these duties are defrayed by costs collected through the City 
Court and remitted to the Marshal's Office. The Marshal is elected for a six-year term. The fiscal year of 
the Maishal's Office ends on June 30. which is ditTerent from that of the City, the primary government. 
The City provides the facilities in which the Marshal's Otrice operates and has approval authority over 
certain expenditures of the Marshal's Office Complete financial statements issued by the Marshal's 
Office may be obtained directly from the Marshal's Office at PO Box 343, Franldin, Louisiana 70538. 

The City has chosen to issue financial statements of the primary government only. 

B. Basis of Presentation 

Government-wide Fmancial Statements — 

The govemment-wide tinancial statements (the statement of net position and the statement of 
acti% ities) report inforniation on Al of the activities of the City. The effect of interfund activity. withm 
the governmental and business-type activities columns, has been removed from these statements. 
Governmental activities, which nonnally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges 
for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
proaram are Ai:et by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific program Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use. 
or directly benefit from goods. services. or privileges pro, ided by a gri en program and 2) operating or 
capital grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular program. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
mstrad as general revenues. 

Fund Financial Statements — 

The City segegates transactions rdated to certain functions or activities in separate funds m 
order to aid tinancial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Separate statements are 
presented for governmental and proprietary activities. These statements present each major fimd as a 
separate column on the fund tinancial statements: all non-major funds are aggregated and presented in a 
single column. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City or meets the 
following critena: 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

a. Total assets and deferred outflows of resources, habilities and deferred inflows of 
resources, revenues, or expenditures'expenses of that individual governmental or 
entemrise fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that 
cateeory or type: and 

h. Total assets and deferred outflows of resources, habilities and deferred inflows of 
resources, revenues, or expenditures:expenses of the individual governmental or 
enterprise fund are at least 5 percent of the correspondine total for all governmental and 
enterprise funds combined. 

The major governmental funds of the City are described helow: 

Genend Fund - primary operating fund of the City. The general fund is always classified as a major hind 
and is used to account for all tinancial resources except those required to be accounted for in another 
fund. 

Special Revenue Fund: 

Liquid and solid Waste Fund— accounts for the receipt and use of proceeds of the City's pro-rata portion 
of the St. Mary Parish -1-V-$3 sales and use tax. These taxes are dedicated to the construction, maintenance, 
and operations of sewerage or solid waste disposal systems. and police and fire protection. 

C'apital Project Fund: 

Capital Ouday Fund— accounts for the receipt and use of funds received from grant sources for the 
purpose of acquiring assets or other capital expenditures. 

Proprietary Funds: 

Miler Fund—accounts for the provision of water services to residents of the City. All activities 
necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including. but not limited to, 
admirustration, operations. maintenance. financing and related debt service, and billing and collection. 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting 

Measurement focus refers to w hat is being measured: basis of accounting refers to when 
revenues and expenditures are recognzed in the accounts and reported in the fmancial statements. Basis 
of accountine relates to the tnnine of the measurement made, regardless of the measurement focus 
applied. 

The go% ernment-wide statements and tund financial statements fix the proprietary funds are 
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting The 
economic resources measurement focus means all assets and liabilities (whether current or non-current) 
are included in the statement of net position and the operating statements present increases (revenues) 
and decreases (expenses) in net total position. Under the accnial basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized when earned including unbilled water sen ices which are accrued. Expenses are recolunzed 
at the time the liahility is incurred 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Governmental fbnd fmancial statements are reported using the current fmancial resources 
measurement focus and are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting-. tJnder the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recopized when susceptible to accrual. when they 
hecome both measurable and available. "Measurable" means the amount of the transaction can be 
determined and "available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liahilities of the current period. Sales taxes are considered measurable when in the hands of 
intermediary collecting governments and are recopized as revenues at that time. The City considers 
property taxes mailable if they are collected within 60 days after year-end. Expenditures are recorded 
when the related liability is incurred. 

Other major revenues that are considered susceptible to accrual include earned grant revenues 
and other intergovernmental revenues, charges for services and interest on investments. Licenses, 
permits, and fines are recognized when they are received because they are not objectively measurable. 

D. Cash and Interest-Bearing Deposits 

Cash and interest-beanng deposits include amounts in demand deposits, interest-hearing 
demand deposits, and time deposits. Deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market 

For the purpose of the proprietary fund statement of cash flows. "cash and cash equi‘alents" 
include all demand and savings accounts. 

E. Short-Term Interfund Receivables Payables 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for 
goods pro‘ided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as "due from other 
ftmde or "due to other funds" on the balance sheet. Interfund receivables and payables between funds 
within governmental aetivities are eliminated in the statement of net position. 

F. Receivables  

All receivables are shown net of an allowance account, as applicahle. 

G. Prepaid Items 

Pm-raids record payments tu vendors that benefit future reporting penods and are also reported 
on the consumption basis. 

H. C'apital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property. plant. equipment and vehicles, are reported in the 
applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the eovernment-wide financial statements 
and m the timd financial statements for the propnetary fund. All capital assets are valued at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not availahle. Donated assets are measured at 
acquisition value. Repairs and maintenance are recorded as expenses. Renewals and betterments are 
capitalized. Assets capitalized have an original cost of $2,51H) or more. Depreciation has been calculated 
on each class of depreciable property using the straight-line method. Estimated useibl lives are as 
follows: 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Buildings 20 - 40 years 

Improvements 20 - 40 years 

Equipment 5 - 25 years 

I. Restricted Assets 

Restricted assets include cash and interest-bearing deposits that are legally restricted as to their 
use. The restricted assets are related to the revenue bond accounts and utility meter deposits. 

J. Deferred Outflows of Resources and Inflows of Resources 

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets that applies to a fiiture 
period and will not be recognized as an outtlow of resources (expense or expenditure) until then. The 
City reports deferred outflows of resources related to its net pension liahility on its government-wide and 
proprietary funds statements of net position. 

Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period 
and will not be recognized as an intlow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City may report 
deferred inflows arising from unavailable revenues. Unavailable revenue occurs under a modified 
accrual basis of accounting and is reported only in the governmental funds halance sheet The City also 
reports deferred inflows related to its net pension liability on its go‘ ernment-wide and proprietary funds 
statements of net position. 

K. Long-Term Liabilities 

The accounting treatment of long-term debt depends on whether the assets are used in 
governmental fund operations or propnetary fund operations and whether they are reported in the 
government-wide or fund financial statements. 

All long-term liabilities to he repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported 
as liabilities in the government-wide statenients. The long-term liabilities consist primarily of bonds 
payable, capital lease obligations, and utility meter deposits payable. 

Long-term liahilities for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial 
statements. Debt proceeds are reported as other financing sources and payrnent of pnncipal and interest 
reported as expenditures The accounting for proprietary fund long-term liabilities is the same in the fund 
statements as it is in the government-wide statements. 

L. Equity Classifications 

Government-wide Financial Statements — 

Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components: 

a. Net investment in capital assets — Consists of capital assets including restricted capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any 
bonds, mortgages. notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets. 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

h. Restricted — Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by ( 1) 
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
govenunents: or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted — All other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "net 
investment in capital assets." 

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which hoth restricted and unrestricted net 
position is available, the City considers the restricted funds to have been spent first. 

Fund Financial Statements — 

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements. 
Governmental fund equity is classified as fund halance. Fund halance for the City's governmental 
funds is displayed depicting the relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes 
for which resources can be used. In the governmental fund financial statements, finid balances are 
classified as follows: 

a. Nonspendable - amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable 
form or because they are legally or contractually required to he maintained intact. 

b. Restricted — amounts that can he spent only for specific purposes because of 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation or because of constraints that are 
externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other 
government. 

c. Committed - amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal 
action of the City Council. The Council is the highest level of decision-making authority 
for the City. Commitments may he established, modified, or rescinded only through 
ordinances or resolutions approved by the City Council 

d. Assigned — amounts that do not meet the criteria to he classified as restricted or 
committed but that are intended to be used for specific purposes. Intent can be expressed 
hy the City Council. 

e. Unassigned - all other spendable amounts. 

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 
balance is available, the City considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an expenditure 
is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the City 
considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally 
unassigned funds, as needed, unless the council has provided otherwise in its commitment or 
assignment actions. 

M. Revenues, Expenditures. and Expenses 

Operating Re% enues and Expenses — 

Proprietary funds distinguish operatinu revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Operating revenues and expenses generally resuh from provithng services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with the fund's ongoing operations Operating expenses for the 
proprietary funds include the cost of personal and contractual services, supplies and depreciation on 
capital assets. It also includes all revenue and expenses not related to capital and related financing. 
noncapital financing, or investing activities. All revenues and expenses not meeting this detinition 
are reported as nonoperatmg revenues and expenses. 

ExpendituresfExpenses — 

In the government-wide financial statements. expenses are classified by function for both 
governmental and business-type activities. 

In the governmental hinds' fmancial statements. expenditures are classified by character. In the 
proprietary fund, expenses are classified as operating or nonoperatine. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources. 
Propnetary fund.s report expenses relating to use of economic resources. 

Bad Debts — 

Uncollectible amounts due for ad valorem taxes are recognized as bed debts at the time 
information becomes availahle which would indicate collection of the particular receivahle is unlikely. 
Although the specific charge-off method is not in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP). the resulting difference between the allowance method and the specific charge-off 
method would result in an inunaterial difference. An allowance for uncollectible utility receivables has 
been proNided at April 30, 2024. 

N. lnterliind Transfers 

Permanent reallocation of resources between funds is classified as interfund transfers. For the 
purposes of the statement of activities. all interfund transfers between uidividual governmental funds 
have heen eliminated. Interfund transfers between governmental funds and business-type funds are not 
eliminated but are shown in the statement of activities as —transfers.-

 

O. Compensated Absences 

Full time employees of the City earn vacation leave based upon their total years of service. 
Vacation leave must be used within the fiscal year and cannot be earned over to subsequent periods. 

P. Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability. deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
milows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense. information about the fiduciary net 
position of the Municipal Employees Retirement System, the Municipal Police Retirement System. the 
Firefighters' Retirement System. and the Louisiana State Employee' Retirement System. and additions 
to:deductions from the retirement systems' net positions have been determined on the same basis as they 
are reported by the plan. For this purpose. benefit payrnents (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recopized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms and 
investments are reported at fair value. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Q. Use of Estirnates 

The City's management uses estimates and assumptions ui preparing financial statements. 
Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported arnounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

(2) Cash ancl Interest-Bearinr2 Deposits 

Under state law, the City may deposit ftmds within a fiscal agent bank oreanized under the laws 
of the State of Louisiana, the laws of any other state in the Union, or the laws of the United States. The 
City may invest in certificates and time deposits of state hanks organized under Louisiana law and 
national banks having principal offices in Louisiana. At April 30, 2024, the City has cash and interest-
bearing deposits (book balances) totaling $1.013.333 as follows. 

 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-type 
Activities Total 

Demand deposits N37.908 $ 173,91 5 $ 1,011.833 

Petty cash 

 

900 1,50(1 

Total S 838.508 S 174.825 S 1.013,333 

These deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market. Under state law, these deposits, tor 
the resulting bank balances) must be secured by federal deposit insurance or the pledge of securities 
owned hy the fiscal agent bank. The market ‘alue of the pledged securities plus the federal deposit 
insurance must at all times equal the amount on deposit with the fiscal agent bank These securities are 
held in the name of the pledging fiscal agent hank in a holding or custodial hank that iN mutually 
acceptable to both parties. Deposit balances (bank balances) at April 30, 2024 are as follows. 

Bank balances S 1,217.051 

Federal deposit insurance S 876,233 
Pledged securities 340,818 

Total $ 1,217,051  

Custodial credit nsk for deposits is the risk that in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution. the City's deposits may not be recol, ered or the collateral securities that are in the possession 
of an outside party will not be recovered The City has not formally adopted policies that limit allowable 
deposits or investments and address the specific type of risk to which the City is exposed, nor a policy to 
monitor or attempt to reduce exposure to custodial credit risk. At April 30, 2024, deposits in the amount 
of $340,818 were exposed to custodial credit risk. These deposits are uninsured and collateralized with 
securities held by the pledeing institution's trust department or agent but not in the City's name. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

(3) Ad Valorem Taxes 

Ad valorem taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1 of each year. Taxes are 
levied by the City in September or October and are billed to taxpayers in November. Billed taxes hecome 
delinquent on January 1 of the following year The City bills and collects its own property taxes using the 
assessed values detennined by the tax assessor of St. Mary Parish. 

City property tax revenues are budgeted in the year billed. 

For the year ended April 30, 2024, taxes of 20.54 mills were levied on property with assessed 
valuations totaling $37.901.240 and were dedicated as follows: 

General governmental services 14.45 mills 

Sewerage system maintenance 6.09 mills 

Total taxes levied for the year ended Apiil 30, 2024 were $778,497. 

(4) Receivables 

Receivables at April 30. 2024 consist of the following: 

 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-Type 
Activities Total 

Accounts 120.473 $ 1.122,144 51,242,617 
Taxes •;57,856 

 

557.856 

 

678,329 1,122,144 1.800.473 
Less: allowance tor uncollectihle 

 

(484,4TN (484.4381 

Net receivables S 678,329 $ 637,706 51.316.035 

(5) Due from other Governments 

 

Amounts due from other governments at April 30, 2024 consist of the following: 

Goveni mental Activities 
State of Louisiana - Capital Outlay Grant S 691,334 
State of Louisiana - CWEF Grant 32,580 
State of Louisiana - Community Action Grant 18,203 
State of Louisiana - LCDBG Program 100,083 
State of Louisiana - Video poker 28.211 
St. Mary Parish Government - Parish share of City Court operating costs 21,784 
St. Mary Parish Government - Parish share of sewer plant operating costs 19.305 
St. Mary Parish Consolidated Drainage District No 1 - Share of Yokely Canal 8,831 

Total govenunental activities Lir 1.'3') 

Business-Type Activities: 

 

St. Mary Parish Water & Sewer Commission No. 4 - Charges for services S 3.466 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

(6) Chowles ni Capital Assets 

Capital asset aetivitv for the year ended Apnl 30, 2024, is as follows: 

 

Balance 

05:01/2023 Additions Deletions 

Balance 

041302024 

Governmental activities: 
Capital assets not being depreciated: 

    

Land s; 864.766 $ - ti - S 864.766 
Construction in progress 1.342.7-14 4.842.466 (135.75(,) (;.049.454 

Total capital assets not being depreciated 2.207,510 4,84).466 (135.756) 6.914.220 

Capital assets being depreciated: 

    

Buildings 5.334,501 

 

(74.750) 5,259.751 

Equipment 5.300,079 498.963 (1,199.398) 4,599.644 
Infrastructure 21.996,263 719.556 (980.980) 21,234.839 

Total capital assets being depreciated 32.630,843 718,519 (2,255.128) 31,094.234 

Less accuinulated depreciation for 

    

Buildings (2.241,750) (109.056) 17.597 (2.333.209) 
Equipment (3.998.414) (164.771) 1.188.968 (2.974.217) 
Infrastructure (13.957,307) (405.802) 854.532 (13,5(I8.577) 

Total accumulated depreciation (20.197.471) (679,(,29) 2,061.097 (18,816.003) 

Total capital assets being 

depreciated, net 1'.433,371 38.890 (194.031) P.178.131 

Intangible right-to-use assets: 

    

Equipment 34.415 6.1(,0 

 

40.575 

Less. Accumulated antortization (22,944) (8.349) 

 

(31.293) 

Net intangible right-to-use assets 11,471 (2.189) 

 

9.282 

Governrnental activities 

capital assets. net $ 14.652,353 $ 4,879.167 S (329.787) S 19,2(11.733 

Business-t)pe activities: 

   

Capital assets not being depreciated: 

   

Land 10,000 S 

 

10,000 

Construction in progress 1,160 

  

/.160 

Total capital assets not being depreciated 12.160 

  

12.160 

Capital assets being depreciated: 

    

Water utility system 11.0N887 35.476 

 

11,114.363 

Less accumulated depreciation for• 

Water utility system (6.6(,1.123) (373.807) 

 

(7,034.930) 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 4.417.764 (338.331) 

 

4.079.433 

Business-type activities capital 
assets. net S 4.429.924 's (338.331) S 4,091.593 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

A. of April 30. 2024. the City has outstandmg construction commitments totahng 
approximately $1,399,203 of which $475,752 is to be expended through federals award programs. 

Depreciation expense charged as direct expense to functions is as follows: 

Governmental activities: 
General government and administration $ 94,437 
Judicial 1.323 
Public safety: 

Police 9,288 
Fire 103,749 

Public works. 
Streets and drainage 163.149 

Community development 30.514 
Culture and recreation 55.519 
Sanitation 221,650 

Total depreciation expense, governniental activities $ 679,620, 

Business-type activities: 
Water $ 373.807  

(7) Short-Tenn Liabilities 

Durin2 the year, the City financed insurance premiums with interest rates of 0.402% to 5 500%. 
The following is a summary of short-term deht activity for the year ended Apnl 30, 2024: 

 

Balance 
Beginning 

of Year Additions Reductions 

Balance 
End 

of Year 
Governmental activities: 

Direct placements 

     

Notes payahle - insurance S 62,001 S 353,220 

 

(342.333) $ 77,888 

Business- type activities. 

     

I)irect placements 

Notes payable - insurance S 10,294 S 47.519 ti (46,747) $ 11.066 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

(8) Long-Tenn Liabilities 

During the year ended April 30. 2024 thr thllowmg changes occurred in long-term liahilities. 

 

Balance 
Beginning 

of Year Addit tolls Redtictious 

Balance 
End 

of Year 

Due within 

One Yeat 
Govenunenral activities: 

Direct placements 

     

Taxable limited tax bonds S 8K2 00? S S (55.000) 1. sr on.? s 56.000 
puhlic improvement revenue bon& 855 000 

 

(95,000) 760,000 14,0,000 

Certificate of Indebtedness 

 

580.000 

 

580.01N1 75.785 

Limited tax bonds 

 

200.000 ( i7,00) 183.000 17.00n 

Dilect borrowings 

     

Financed inuchase agreement 712 918 

 

(130.964) 581 954 135.92? 

Lease obligations 13 073 6 161, (12.491) 7-12 4.039 

Total governmental activities S 2.46:•.994 S S '310.455) S 2.93s.('99 I. 339.74 7 

Business- type activities: 

     

Direct placeinents 

     

Water ievenue bonds. Series 21121 S 1.64(1.000 S $ (80.II00) S 1.560.000 $ 80.000 

Water revenue bonds. Series 2023 

 

600.000 

 

600.000 32.000 

Direct borrowings 

     

Financed purchase ageement 714 738 

 

1203.0261 511 712 24,2,997 

Lease obligatimis H.9s0 

 

(7.1i240 1.1f;0 1.160 

Total business-rype activities S 2.363.718  S f;00 000 S 2X1.8461 w 2,672 872  S 316.157  

Collateral of Financed Purchases - 

Governmental activities: 
During the year ended April 30, 2018. the City entered into a finance purchase agreement for 

a fire tnick which is collateral to secure the outstanding direct borrowing of $367.917. During the 
year ended April 30, 2021, the City entered into a finance purchase agreement for self-contained 
breathing apparatus (SCBA) and accessories which is collateral to secure the outstanding direct 
horrowing of $128,003. During the year ended April 30, 2023, the City entered into a tinance 
purchase agreement for a bush hog and two John Deere tractors which are collateral to secure the 
outstanding direct borrowings of $76,670, $4,807, and $4,557, respectively. 

Business-type activities: 
During the year ended April 30, 2017, the City entered into a tinance purchase agreement for 

water meters which are collateral to secure the outstanding direct borrowing of $460.218. During the 
year ended April 30, 2020, the City entered into a finance purchase agreement fbr two pumps which 
are collateral to secure thr outstanding direct borrowing of $13,625. During the year ended April 30, 
21121, the City entered into a finance purchase agreement for a generator which is collateral to secure 
the outstanding direct borrowing of $37,909. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Bonds payable at April 30. 2024 are comprised of the followmg individual issues: 

Governmental Activities-

 

$1,880,000 Taxable Limited Tax Bonds, Series 2018, payable 
in annual installments of 518,000 to $63,000 through April I, 
2038, with interest at 0.95%; secured hy ad valorem tax proceeds 

$1,650,000 Public Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, 
payable in annual installments of $70,000 to $120.000 through 
June 1, 2030. with interest from 3.150% to 3.900%; secured by 
excess annual revenues 

$580,000 Certificate of Indebtedness. Series 2023, 
payable in annual imtallments of $25,782 to $54.925 through 
September 25. 2038, with interest at 5.550%; secured by 
general fund revenues 

$200,000 Limited Tax Bonds. Series 2023, 
payable in annual installments of 517.000 to $24,000 through 
April 1. 2033, with interest from 5.000% to 2.500%; secured by 

ad valorem tax proceeds 

$ 827,003 

760,0011 

580.000 

183.000 

Total S ?,350.003 

Business-Type Activities-

 

$1,800,000 Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2021. payable 
in annual installments of $10,000 to $115.000 through March 1, 2040, 
with interest at 2.380%; secured by water revenues from the Water 
Fund. $ 1.560.000 

$600,000 Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2023, payahle 
in annual installments of S32.000 to $57,000 through March I. 2038, 
with interest from 5.350% to 2.675%; secured by water revenues 

front the Water Fund. ti 600,000 

Total S 2O0.000 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

The schedule of interest rates for the Series 2012 variable-rate debt is as ibllows: 

April 30. Rate 

2025 3.25% 
2026 3.35% 
2027 3.50% 
2028 3.55% 
2029 3.65% 
2030 3.70°.O 
2031 3.90% 

The various bond indentures contain significant limitations and restrictions as to the annual deht 
service requirements, maintenance of and flow of monies through various restricted accounts, minimum 
amounts to be maintained in various sinking funds. and minimum revenue bond coverage. The City is in 
compliance with all such significant limitations and restrictions. 

The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of Apnl 30, 2024 are as follows: 

Year Ending 

Aim] :1(1. 

 

Governmental Aelivitres 

   

Direct Placements 

   

Public Improvement 

Revenue Bonds. Series 21/12 

Tasable Limited TP: 

Bonds, Series 2018 

Certdicate of hidebtedness 

Sei ies 2023 

 

Plinuipal Interest Principal Interest Plincipal Interest 

 

2025 $ 100,000 $ '5,505 $ 50.000 $ 7,856 $ 25,785 $ 32.190 

 

2026 100,000 /1.105 56.000 7,324 27,216 30.759 

 

2027 105,000 18,693 57,000 6,792 28,727 29,248 

 

2028 110.000 14.903 57.000 6.250 30.321 27.654 

 

2029 110.000 10,942 58.000 5.710 32.004 25.971 

 

2030-2034 "35.000 9,148 296.000 20.218 188.718 101.157 

 

2035-2039 

 

24 7.003 5.900 247.'19 42.64o 

 

Total $ 760.000 $ 101 396 X 827.003 $ 60.050 $ 580,000 $ 289.625 

  

Dtrect Placements I)irect Borrowings 

    

Taxable Linuted Tax 

    

Year Ending Bonds. Series 2023 Finance Purchases 

 

Tolals 

 

Apt il 30. Prutcipal Inkiest Principal Limes( Principal Interest Total 

2025 $ 17,000 $ 8,000 $ 136.923 $ 25,561 $ 335,708 $ 90.112 $ 434,820 

2026 18,000 7,250 137.180 19.440 338,405 86,978 4'5,383 

2027 19,000 6,476 141.293 13.385 351,020 13.385 364,405 

2028 19.000 5,650 166.549 6.042 382,870 6.941 389.812 

2029 20.000 4,826 - - 220,004 

 

220.004 

2030-203-s 90.000 10,074 

  

809,71H 

 

809.718 

2035-2039 

  

- 

 

494,232 - 49.1.13' 

Total 183.000 $ 42,276 $ 581.954 S 65,328 5 2,931,9-3 7 $ 206.417 $3.1SS.374 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

    

Humness-Type Activities 

     

Dnekt Plakeinents 

 

Dual Boirov,nr, 

 

Totals 

 

year En, hug 
Water RV:CHMtEldi 

Series 2021 
Wine, Revenue Bonds 

Sei ies 2023 
Finance Purchases 

   

)rtl 30. Pink i )al Interest Puncipal Inietesi Principal Lucr t Prilk ipal Intel Total 

2(.25 S 80 000 S 37,12S S 32 000 $ 28.0sS S 202.997 $ 15.226 S 314.997 i 80.442 % 3'.15,439 
:ice, 85 000 35.224 33.000 24.750 146.314 8 054 314.314 70.058 354.372 
2(.27 85 000 33,201 35 000 25.3,7.6 105.512 2.110 225.812 60.497 256,509 
:ties 85 000 31.178 36.000 23.940 6.589 wu 127.589 55.217 lS2.806 
2029 90 noo 29,155 35 000 22.442 - - (28.000 51.597 179,597 

2(130-2654 480 000 112.812 214.000 87.130 

  

694.000 199.942 893.942 
2n45-20.0. 540 000 52,836 212 000 29.045 

  

752.0ilt, 81.884 33,8Et4 
204o-2044 115 000 2.737 

    

115.00 2.737 117.717 

Tt4al S 1,560 000 % 334 271 S t;00  000 $ 242.754 S 511 712 $ 15 519 %2 671 71' 5602.574 S3 274 186 

Lease Obligations 

During the fiscal year ended Apnl 30. 2023. the City implemented GASBS No. 87, Leases. for 
accounting and reporting leases that had previously been reported as capital and operating leases. 

Lease liability reductions are liquidated by the City's general fund and water fund. 

At the commencement of a lea&e. the City initially measures the lease liability at the present value 
of payrnents expected to be made dunng the lease term. For purposes of discounting future payments on the 
lease, the City used interest rates that ranged from 0.402% and 5.500%. Subsequenðy, the lease liability is 
reduced by the principal portion of lease payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial 
amount of the lease liability. adjusted for lease payrnents made at or before the lease commencement date. 
plus certain initial direct costs. Subsequently. the lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of the lease tenn or the useful life of the underlying asset. 

The Citv uses the interest rate charged by the lessor as the discount rate, if provided. When the 
interest rate charged by the lessor is not provided, the City uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as 
the discount rate for leases. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are composed 
of fixed payments through the noncancellable term of the lease and renewal periods that managernent 
considers reasonably certain to be exercised. 

The City monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and will 
remeasure the lease asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the 
amount of the lease liability. 

In accordance with GASBS No. 87, the City recognizes lease liabilities and intangible right-to-use 
assets (lease assets) in the government-wide financial statements and in its enterprise funds 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Leased assets are reported with capital assets on the statement of net position. The leased equipment 
and accumulated amortization of the right-to-use assets are as follows: 

 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-Type 
Activities 

Vehicles - police unit $ 34,415 $ 
Equipment - lawn mowers 6,160 

 

Equipment - tractor 

 

24.443 
Less: accumulated amortization (31.293) (9.370) 

 

9.282 $ 15.073 

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under lease obligations as of April 
30, )014: 

Year ending Governmental Business-Type 
April 30, Activities Activities 

2025 4,039 1.160 

2026 2,155 

 

1 0'7 548 

 

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 6.742 S 1,160 

Current year lease payments totaled $12.491 and 57.820 for uovernmental and business-type 
activities, respectively. 

(9) Net position 

Net position is presented as net investments in capital assets. restricted and or unrestricted. The 
City's net position is affected by transactions that resulted in the recognition of deferred outflow of resources 
and deferred inflow of resources, and the ditlerence between the deterred outflow of resources and deferred 
milow of resources. and balance of the related asset or liahility is sipificant. As discussed in Note 14, the 
City's recognition of net pension liability in accordance with GASBS No. 68 significantly affect the City's 
unrestncted component of net position in its governmental activities and business-type actnities as of April 
30, 2024. 

At Apnl 30, 2024, the government-wide statement of net position reports the following restricted net 
position: 

 

Governmental 
.Activities 

Business-Type 
Activities 

Restricted by enabling legislation: 

  

Police narcotics 12,153 $ 
Net position otherwise restricted for. 

  

Debt service 34,402 300.801 
Summer feeding prouram 8,431 

 

Total restricted net position S 54,986 $ 300.801 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

(10) Fund Balance 

Fund balance is classified as nonspendable. restncted, committed, assigned, andfor mmssiimed based 
primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the 
resources in the governmental funds. The constraints placed on fund balance for the major governmental 
fbnds and all other governmental fimds are presented as follows: 

 

General 
Liquid and 

Solid Waste 
Capital 
Outlay 

Other 
Govermnental 

Finids 

Total 
Govei 'mental 

Funds 
Fund balances 

Nompendable - 

     

Peapetual care $ 33,856 $ 

 

$ $ 33,856 
Prepaid items 84.867 15.S(i-t 

  

100,731 

Tutal fund balances - nonspendable 118,723 15.864 

  

13-1,587 

Restricted for - 

     

Debt service 

   

34,402 34.402 

Summer feeding program 

   

8.431 8.431 

Drug enforeemeiit 

   

12.153 12.153 

Tutal fluid balances - restricted 

   

94.9S6 c4.9S6 

Committed tu - 

     

Sanitation and sewer operations 

 

35(1.960 

  

356,960 
Sidewalk improvement project 

  

54,634 

 

54,634 
Cayce street iepairs 

  

600.000 

 

6(10,000 

Tutal fund balances - committed 

 

35(5 9611 654.634 

 

1.011,594 

Assigued tu - 
Law enforcement 76.723 

   

76.723 

Unassigned 921.424 

 

(841.538) 

 

79,886 

Total fund balances $ 1.116,8711 $ 372.824 $ 1186.904) $ 54.986 $ 1.357.776 

(11) Contingencies 

ThreatenedPending Litigation 

There are several lawsuits presently threatened or pending against the City as of April 30, 2024. 
In suits pending, legal counsel and management are of the opinion that any unfavorable outcome in these 
cases would be withui the limits of the City's msurance coverk,e, when applicable. However. the Citytloes 
not carry insurance for certain general liahilities. Potential damages or liabilities on the part of the City cannot 
he estimated fbr related cases due to current status of litigation. 

Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various nsks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions: injuries to employees, and natural disasters. The City has elected to purchase 
insurance coverage through the commercial insurance market to cover its exposure to loss. However, it is 
the policy of the City to retain the risk of losses related to general puhlic liability (excluding vehicles and 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

buildings). The City is insured up to policy limits each of the above risks. There were no significant 
changes in coverage, retentions, or limits during the year ended April 30, 2024 Settled claims have not 
exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the previous three fiscal years. 

(12) Interfund Transactions 

A. Reeeix ables and payables 

Interfund receivables and payables at Aptil 30, 2024 consist of the following: 

  

Interfund payahles 

 

General 
Liquid 

and Solid 
Water 

Enterprise Total 
Interfund receivables 

    

Liquid and Solid Waste $ 1,802 $ - $ S 1,802 
Capital outlay 611 416 200,000 200,000 1,011,416 
Water Enterpnse 43.415 

  

43.415 

Total $ 656,633 $ 200.000 S 200,000 $ 1,056,633 

Interfund receivables and payahles arise as a result of transactions between fUnds when there is an 
expectation that the disbursing fund will be repaid or reimbursed by the recipient fund 

B. Operating transfers 

Transfers between hinds for the vear ended April 30, 2024 consist of the following: 

Trim:ft-is in 

Liquid Capital Nonmajor 
tieneial :mit Solid Outlay Govenuneutal 

Tiansfeis imt. 

     

Genet al $ 5. - i 3,331.538 170,400 $ 3,501,938 
Liquid and Solid Waste 76.734 - 

  

76.734 
Capital Outlay 

 

20,000 - 

 

20.000 
Watei Enterprise 17,834 - 545,000 

 

561,834 

Total S 9-1_50S 5 20,000 $ 3,876.538 $ 170,400 $ 4.161,506 

Transfers are used to (1) move re% enues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them 
to the flind that statute or budget requires to expend them and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the 
general fimd to finance vanous programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with hudgetary 
authorizations. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

(13 ) Dedication of Proceeds and Flow of Fund-Sales and Use Tax 

The Citv collects sales taxes under four sales tax levies as follows: 

Proceeds of a 1% parish wide sales and use tax levied in 1966 (2(I24 collections $1,269,198). 
Tax is collected by the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is remitted to each participanng 
municipality on a monthly basis. Proceeds of this tax shall be used for the following purposes: 
construction, acquisition, improvement, maintenance and repairs of streets. capital impro‘ ements, public 
works and buildings (including the acquisition of sites and necessary fixtures, equipment, furnishings and 
appurtenances, and the payment of obligations and refimding obligations which have been or may be 
issued for the purpose of acquiring and improving public works and buildines); for payment or 
supplementing salaries of all municipal employees; for the operation of recreational facilities; for the 
acquisition. maintenance, repairs and payment of operating expenses of equipment, vehicles. and other 
machinery owned by the municipality; and for any other public purpose authorized by state law. 

Proceeds of a 34 of 1% sales and use tax levied in 1974 (2(124 collections $1.135,924). Tax is 
collected by the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is allocated and distnbuted monthly as 
above. Proceeds are to be used for the construction, acquisition, extension, improvement, operation, and 
maintenance of solid waste collection and disposal facilities, sewers and sewerage disposal works, and other 
facilities for pollution control and abaternent, fire and police protection; and to pay debt service requirements 
on bonds issued for any of the above-mentioned purposes The tax was reapproved for levy in 1987 At the 
time of reauthorization, voters approved a provision authorizing that the proceeds could also he used for law 
enforcement and fire protection costs. 

Proceeds of a 310 of 1% sales and use tax levied in 1982 (2(124 collections $362,913). Tax is 
collected by the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is allocated and distributed monthly as 
above. PiocecdS are dedicated to the following purposes. operating and maintaining the police department. 
including the acquisition and maintenance of equipment and supplies; paying or supplementing the salaries 
of municipal employees: and purchasing, constructing, acquiring, extending and-or improving all or any 
portion of public works or capital improvements, including but not limited to the construction, improvement 
and maintenance of drainage. water, and flood control extensions and improvements and the acquisition, 
construction, improvement, maintenance and repair of streets, roads, and hridges. 

Proceeds of a !-", of 1% sales and use tax levied in 2001 (2024 collections $376,095). Tax is collected 
by the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is allocated and distrihuted monthly as above. 
Proceeds are to he used for Increased salaries for police departments and also for operating and maintaining 
the police department. 

( 14) Employee Retirement 

Eligible employees of the City participate in one of four cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined 
benefit public employee retirement systems (PERS). which are controlled and administered by a separate 
board of trustees. These retirement systems provide retirement disability and death benefits to plan members 
and their beneficiaries. Pertinent information relative to each plan follows: 
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A. Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS) 

Plan Description. The Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS), was 
established by Act 356 of the 1954 regular session of the Legislature of the State of Louisiana to provide 
retirement benefits to employees of all incorporated villages, towns, and cities within the State which did not 
have their own retirement system and which elect to become members of the System. The City participates 
in Plan A of MERS. 

Eligibility Requirements. Membership is mandatory as a condition of employment beginning on the 
date employed if the employee is on a permanent basis workmg at least thirty-five hours per week. Those 
individuals paid jointly by a participating employer and the parish are not eligible for membership in MERS 
with exceptions as outlined in the statutes. 

Any person eligible for membership whose first employment making him eligible for membership 
MERS occurred on or afier January 1, 2013 shall become a member of the MERS Plan A Tier 2 or MERS 

Plan B Tier 2 of the system as a condition of employment. 

Retirement Benefits: Benefit provisions are authorized within Act 356 of the 1954 regular session 
and amended by LRS 11:1756-11:1785. The tbllowing bnef description of the plan and its benefits is 
provided for general mformation purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more 
complete information. 

Any rnernber of Plan A who was hired before January 1, 2013 can retire providing the member meets 
one of the following criteria: 

1. Any age with twenty-five (25) or more years of creditable service 
2. Age 60 with a minimum of ten (10) or more years of creditable service. 
3. Any age with twenty (20) years of creditable service, exclusive of military service and 
unused annual and sick leave, with an actuarily reduced early henetit 
Generally, the monthly amount of the retirement allowance for any member of Plan A shall consist 

of an amount equal to three percent of the member's final compensation multiplied by his years of creditable 
sen ice. Final compensation is the average monthly earnings during the highest sixty consecutive rnonths, 
or joined rnonths if service was interrupted. However, under certain conditions as outlined in the statutes, the 
benefits are limited to specified amounts. An additional regular retirement benefit can be received for any 
City marshal or deputy City marshal. See Plan Booklet for further details. 

Any member of Plan A Tier 2 can retire providing he meets une of the following: 

1. Age 67 with seven (7) or more years of creditable service 
2. Age 62 with ten (10) or more years of creditahle service 
3. Age 55 with thirty (30) or more years of creditable service 
4. Any age with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service, exclusive of military service 
and unused annual and sick leave, with an actuarily reduced early benefit. 

Generally, the monthly amount of the retirement allowance for any member of Plan A Tier 2 shall 
consist of an amount equal to three percent of the member's final compensation multiplied by his years of 
creditahle service. Final compensation is the average monthly earnings during the highest sixty consecutive 
months, or joined months if service was intemipted. However, under certain conditions as outhned in the 
statutes, the benefits are limited to specified amounts. Any City Marshal or Deputy City Marshal shall receive 
an additional regular benefit computed on supplemental marshal's earnings See Plan Booklet for further 
details. 
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Survivor Benefits: Upon death of any memher of Plan A with five (5) or more years of creditable 
service, not eligible for normal retirement, the plan provides for benefits for the surviving spouse and minor 
chiklren as outlined in the statutes. 

Any member of Plan A, who is eligible for normal retirement at time of death and who leaves a 
surviving spouse will bc deemed to have retired and selected Option 2 benefits on behalf of the surviving 
spouse on the date of death. Such benefits will begin only upon proper application and are paid in lieu of any 
other survivor benefits. 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Benefits: In lieu of terminating employment and 
accepting a service retirement allowance, any member of Plan A who is eligible to retire may elect to 
participate in the deterred retirement option plan (DROP) for up to three years and defer the receipt of 
benefits. During participation in the plan, employer contributions are payable but employee contnbutions 
cease. The monthly retirement benefits that would he payable, had the person elected to cease employment 
and receive a sen ice retirement allowance. are paid into the DROP Fund. Interest is earned when the member 
has completed DROP participation. Interest earnings are based upon the actual rate of return on the 
investments identified as DROP funds for the period. In addition. no cost-o&living Increases are payahle to 
participants tmtil employment which made them eligible to become inembers of the System has been 
tertninated for at least one full year. 

Upon termination of employment prior to or at the end of the specified period of participation, a 
participant in the DROP may receive, at his option, a lump sum fi-om the account equal to the payments into 
the account, a true annuity based upon his account balance in that fund, or any other method of payinent if 
approved by the Board of Trustees. If a participant dies dunng participation in the DROP, a lump sum equal 
to the balance in his account shall be paid to his named beneficiary or, if none, to his estate. If employment 
is not terminated at the end of the three years. payments into the I)ROP fund cease and the person resumes 
active contributing membership in the System. 

Disability Benefits: For Plan A. a member shall he eligible to retire and receive a disability benefit 
if he has at least five years of creditable service, is not eligible for normal retirement, and has heen officially 
certified as disabled by the State Media Disability Board. Upon retirement caused by disability• a member 
of Plan A shall be paid a disahilitv benefit equal to the lesser of (1) an amount equal to three percent of his 
final compensation multiplied by his years of credible service, but not less than forty-five percent of his final 
compensation, or (2) an amount equal to what the member's normal retirement benefit would he based on 
the member's current fmal compensation, but assliming the member remained in continuous service until his 
earliest nonnal retirement age and using those retirement benefit computation flictors which would be 
applicable to the member's normal retirement. 

Cost of Living Increases: MERS authonzed under state law to grant a cost of living increase to 
members who have been retired for at least one year. The adjustment cannot exceed 2°.i. of the retirees 
original henefit for each full calendar year since retirement and may only be granted if sufficient funds are 
available ft-inn investment income in excess of normal requirements. State law allows MERS to grant an 
additional cost of living increases to all retirees and beneticiaries who are age sixty-five and ahove equal to 
.21!/.3 of the benefit being received on October 1, 1977, or the original benefit, if retirement commenced after 
that date 

Deferred Benefits. Both plans provide for deferred benefits for members who terminate before being 
eligihle for retirement. Once the member reaches the appropriate age for retirement. benefits become payahle. 
Benefits are based on statutes in effect at time of withdrawal. 
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Employer Contnbutions: Contnhutions for all members are established by statute. For the year 
ended June 30, 2023, Member contributions were at 1(1.00% of earnable compensation tbr Plan A. The 
contributions are deducted from the member's salary and remitted by the participating municipality. 

According to state statute, contributions for all employers are actuarially determined each year. For 
the year ended June 30, 2023, the employer contribution rate was 29.50n) of rnember's earnings for Plan A. 

Non-Employer Contributions: According to state statute. MERS also receives one-fourth (1/4) of 
1% of ad valorem taxes collected within the respective parishes except for Orleans. Tax monies are 
apportioned between Plan A and Plan B in proportion to salanes and plan participants. Tax monies received 
from East Baton Rouge Parish are apportioned between the System and the Employees' Retirement System 
of the City of Baton Rouge and Parish of East Baton Rouge. MERS also receives revenue sharing funds each 
year as appropnated by the Legislature. These additional sources of income are used as additional employer 
contributions and are considered support from non-employer contributing entities. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources. At April 30. 2024, The City reported liabilities in its government-wide financial statements of 
$2,457,135 and $819,045 in its governmental activities and its business-type activities, respectively, for its 
proportionate share of the net pension liabilities of MERS. The net pension liahilities were measured as of 
June 30, 2023 and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension oblTarion was determined by 
separate actuarial valuations peribrmed on each of the retirement systems as of that date. Under each 
retirement system. the City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the CiVs 
long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2023, the City's proportional share of NIERS was 0.896389%, 
which was a decrease of 0.041942% from its proportion measured as ofJune 30, 2022. 

For the year ended Apnl 30, 2024, the City recognized pension expense of $319,748 and $106,583 
in its governmental activities and business-type activities, respectively, related to its participation in MERS. 
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At Apnl 30, 2024. the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred mflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

Govenunental Activities Business-Type Activities 
Delen-ed Deferred Deferred Deferred 

Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of billows Of 

Resources Resowces Resources Resources 

Difference between expected and 
actual experience 1.649 $ 22.470 $ 550 $ 7,490 

Net diffeience between piojected 
and actwil earnings on pension 
plan investments 182.353 94.118 

Changes in poportion and 
differences between employei 
contribution% and privortionate 
shale of contributions 44.421 81.713 14,807 "?7:c7.-1 

Employer contributions subsequent 

to the measurement date 329.1N5 1O,728 

057.60 S 105 193 S 219.203 1 3 10-1 

Deferred outflows of resources of $438,913 related to pension resulting from the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an adjustment to the net pension liability in the 
following fiscal year. Other amounts reported as def'erred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recopuzed in pension expense as follows: 

Year 

Governmental 

Activities 

Business-Type 

Activities Total 

70'5 $ 62,475 $ '10,875 $ 83,300 

2026 (26,108) (8,703) (34,811) 

2027 204,834 68,278 273.112 

2028 (17,971) (5,989) (23,960) 

  

$ 74,411 $ 297.641 

Actuarial Assumptions: The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present value 
of projected benefit payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive 
employees that is attnbuted to those employees' past penods of sen ice. less the amount of the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position. Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probabihty of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future 
employment mortality and future salary increases. Actuarially determined amounts regarding the net pension 
liability are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations, and new 
estimates are made about the future 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30. 2023 valuation was based on the results of an 
experience study, for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2018 
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A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2023 are as follows: 

Municipal Employees' 
Retirement System (NIERS) 

Plan A 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial cost method 

Expected remaining service lives 

Investment rate of return 

Inflation rate 

Projected salary increases, including 
inflation and ment increases 

-I to 4 years of service 
-More than 4 years of service 

Annuity and beneficiary mortality 

Empli,yee mortality 

Disabled lives mortality 

June 30, 2023 

Entry Age Normal 

3 years 

6 85%, net of pension 
inflation 

2.5°o 

plan investment expense, including 

6 4% 
4 5% 

PubG-2010(3) Healthy Retiree Tahlc set equal to 120% for 
males and females each adjusted using their respective male and 
female MP2018 scales. 

PubG-2010(B) Employee Table set equal to 120% for males and 
females each adjusted using their respective male and female 
MP2018 scalcs. 

PubNS-2010(B) Disabled Retiree Table set equal to 120°.6 for 
males and females with the full generational MP20l8 scale. 

The investment rate of return was 6.85%, which was the same from the rate used as ofJune 30, 2022. 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was detennined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weightmg the expected future real rates of return hy the 
target asset allocation percentage and by addin2 expected inflation and an adjustment for the effect of 
rebalancing:diversification. 
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The target allocation and best estimates of anthmetic real rates of return fix each major asset class 
included in the Systeas target asset allocation as of June 30, 2023 are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 
Target Asset 
Allocation 

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate of 

Return 

Pubhc equity 56% ).44% 
Public fixed income 29% 1.26% 
Altematives 15".. 0.65% 

Totals 100% 4.35% 

Inflation 

 

2.50 •0 
Expected Arithmetic 

Nominal Return 

 

6.85% 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.85%, which was the same from 
the rate used as ofJune 30, 2022. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates and that contributions 
from participating employers will be made at the actuarially determined rates, which are calculated in 
accordance with relevant statutes and approved hy the Board of Trustees and the Public Retirement Systems' 
Actuarial Committee. Based on those assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments 
to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate: The following presents the net pension liability of the 
participating employers calculated using the discount rate of 6 85%, as well as what the employers' net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower. or 
one percentage point higher than the current rate as ofkine 30. 2023: 

Changes in Discount Rate: 
MERS - Plan A 

Current 
1% Discount I% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
5.85% 6.85% 7.85% 

Net Pension Liability $ 4,542,005  $ 3,276,180 $ 2,206,937     

Support of Non-Employer Contributing Entities. Contributions received by a pension plan from 
non-employer contributing entities that are not in a special funding situation are recorded as revenue by the 
respective pension plan. The City recognizes revenue m an amount equal to its proportionate share of the 
total contributions to the pension plan from these non-employer contributing entities. During the year ended 
April 30, 2024. the City recognized re‘enue as a result of support received from the non-employer 
contributing entities of S67,433 for its participation in MERS. 
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Payables to the Pension Plan: The City recorded accnied liabilities to MERS for the year ended April 
30, 2024 primarily due to the accrual fbr payroll at the end of the fiscal year. The balance due to MERS as 
of Apnl 30, 2024 is $39,445. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information about the pension plan's tiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued financial report for MERS availahle at www.mersla.com 

B. Municipal and State Police Retirement System of Louisiana (MPERS) 

Plan Description: The Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System is the admimstrator of a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer plan. Membership in MPERS is mandatory for any full-time police officer 
employed by a municipality of the State of Louisiana and engaged in law enforcement, empowered to make 
arrests, provided he or she does not have to pay social security and providing he or she meets the statutory 
critena. MPERS provides retirement benefits for municipal police officers. The projections of benefit 
payments in the calculation of the total pension liability includes all benefits to be provided to current active 
and inactive employees through MPERS in accordance with benefit terms and any additional legal 
agreements to provide benefits that are in force at the measurement date. 

The Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana issues a stand-alone report on 
their financial statements. Access to the audit report can be found on the System's website• www.lampers.org 
or on the Louisiana Legislative Auditor's website, www.11a.state.la.us. 

Benefit provisions are authorized within Act 189 of 1973 and amended by LRS 11:2211-11:2233. 
The following is a hrief description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general information 
purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete information. 

Membership Prior to January 1, 2013: A member is eligible for regular retirement after he has heen 
a member of MPERS and has 25 years of creditable service at any age or has 20 years of creditable service 
and is age 50 or has 12 years creditable service and is age 55. A member is eligihle for early retirement after 
he has heen a member of MPERS for 20 years of creditable service at any age with an actuarially reduced 
henetit. 

Benefit rates are 3.33% of average final compensation (average monthly eamings during the highest 
36 consecutive months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number of years of creditable service 
not to exceed 100% of final salarv. 

Upon the death of an active contributing member, or disability retiree. the plan provides for surviving 
spouses and minor children. Under certain conditions outlined in the statutes, the henefits range from 40% to 
60% of the member's average final compensation for the surviving spouse. In addition, each child under age 
18 receives benefits equal to 10% of the member's average final compensation or $200 per month. whichever 
is greater. 

Membership Commencing January 1. 2013: Member eligibility for regular retirement, early 
retirement, disability and survivor henefits are based on Hazardous Duty and Non-Hazardous Duty sub plans. 
Under the Hazardous Duty sub plan, a member is eligihle for regular retirement atter he has been a member 
of !VIPERS and has 25 years of creditable service at any age or has 12 vears of creditable service at age 55. 
Under the Non-Hazardous Duty sub plan., a member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been a 
member of MPERS and has 30 years of creditable service at any age, 25 years of creditahle service at age 
55. or 10 years of creditable service at age 60. Under hoth sub plans. a member is eligible for early retirement 
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after he has been a member of MPERS for 20 years of creditable sen ice at any age, with an actuarially 
reduced benefit from age 55. 

Under the Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Duty sub plans, the henefit rates are 3% (generally) and 
2.50%, respectively, of average final compensation r average monthly earnings during the highest (>0 
consecutive months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number of vears of creditabk service 
not to exceed 100% of final salary. 

Upon the death of an active contributing member, or disability retiree, the plan provides tbr surviving 
spouses and minor children. Under conditions outlined in the statutes. the henefits range from 251!..3 to 55°;) 
of the member's average final compensation for the surviving spouse In addition_ each child under age 18 
receives 10% of the member's average final conipensation or $200 per month, whichever is greater If 
deceased member had less than 1(1 years of service, beneficiary will recen e a refund of employee 
contributions only. 

Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA): The Board of Trustees is authorized to provide annual cost-
of-hving adjustments computed on the amount of the current regular retirement, disability, beneficiary or 
survivor's benefit, not to exceed 3% in any given year. The Board is authorized to provide an additional 2% 
COLA, cmnputed on the member's original benefit, to all regular retirees, disability, survivors and 
beneficianes who are 65 years of age or older on the cut-off date which determines eligibility. 

No regular retiree, survivor or beneficiary shall be eligible to receive a cost-of-hving adjustment 
until benefits have been received at least one full fiscal year and the payment of such COLA, when 
authorized, shall not be effective until the lapse of at least one-half of the fiscal year. Members who elect 
early retirement are not eligihle for a cost of living adjustment until they reach regular retirement age. 

A COLA may only be granted if funds are availahle from interest earnings in excess of normal 
requirements, as determined by the actuary. 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP): A member is eligible to enter DR()P when he is eligihle 
for regular retirement based on the member's sub plan participation. Upon filing thr application for the 
program, the employee's active membership in the System is terminated. At the entry date into the DR()P, 
the employee and employer contributions cease. The amount to be deposited into the DROP account is equal 
to the benefit computed under the retirement plan elected by the participant at date of application. The 
duration of participation in the DROP is 36 months or less. If employment is terminated after the three-year 
period the participant may receive his benefits by lump sum payment or a true annuity. If employment is not 
terminated, active contributing membership into the System shall resume and upon later termination, he shall 
receive additional retirement benefit based on the additional service. For those eligible to enter DROP pnor 
to January 1, 20114, DROP accounts shall earn interest suhsequent to the termination of DRC)P participation 
at a rate of half of one percentage point helow the percentage rate of return of the System's investment 
portfolio as certified bv the actuary on an annual basis hut will never lose money. For those eligible to enter 
DR()P subsequent to January 1, 2004, an irrevocable election is made to eam interest hased on the System's 
mvestment portfolio return or a money market investment return. This could result in negative earnings rate 
being applied to the account. 

If the member elects a money market investment return, the funds are transferred to a government 
money market account and earn interest at the money market rate. 
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Initial Benefit C)ption Plan: In 1999, the State Legislature authorized MPERS to establish an Initial 
Benefit Option program. Initial Benefit Option is available to members who are eligible for regular retirement 
and have not participated in DROP. The Initial Benefit Option program provides both a one-time single sum 
payment of up to 36 months of regular monthly retirement benefit, plus a reduced monthly retirement benefit 
for lite. Interest is computed on the balance based on same criteria as DROP. 

Employer Contributions: Contributions for all members are actuarially determined as required by 
state law but cannot be less than 9°.;. of the employees' earnable compensation excluding ertime but 
including state supplemental pay. 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the employer and employee contribution rates for all members 
hired prior to January 1, 2013 and Hazardous Duty members hired after January 1, 2013 were 31.25% and 
10°.,., respectively. The employer and ernployee contribution rates for all Non-Hazardous Duty members 
hired after January 1, 2013 were 31.25% and 8%, respectively. The employer and employee contribution 
rates for all members whose eamable compensation is less than poverty guidelines issued by the United 
States Department of Health and Hurnan Services were 33.75% and 7 5%, respectively 

Non-Employer Contributions: MPERS also receives insurance premium tax monies as additional 
employer contributions The tax is considered support from a non-contributing entity and appropriated by 
the kgislature each year based on an actuarial study. Non-employer contributions were recognized as 
revenue during the year ended June 30, 2023 and excluded from pension expense. 

Pension Liahilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources. At April 30. 2024. The City reported liabilities in its go% emment-wide financial statements of 
$1,719,586 in its governmental activities for its proportionate share of the net pension liabilities of MPERS. 
The net pension liabilities were measured as ofJune 30. 2023, and the total pension used to calculate 
the net pension obligation was determined by separate actuarial valuations performed on each of the 
retirement systems as of that date. Under each retirement system, the (ity's proportion of the net pension 
liability was hased on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative 
to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined At June 30, 2023 the 
City's proportional share of MPERS was 0.162763%, which was a decrease of 0.0008575°.;. from its 
proportion measured as of June 30, 2022. 

For the year ended April 30, 2024, the City recognized a pension expense of $389.923 in its 
governmental activities related to its participation in MPERS. 
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At Apnl 30, 2024. the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred mflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

Governmental Activities 
I)eterrecl Deferred 

Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources 

Difference between expected and actual 
experience S 121.1 2 S $ 721 

Changes in Assumption '8,695 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

185,639 

  

266.273 50,818 

192,292       

$ 794,027 $ 51,539 

Deferred outflows of resources of $192,292 related to pension resulting from the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recopized as an adjustment to the net pension liability in the 
Mowing fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as 

Year 

follows: 

np5 $ 272,248 
2026 117,907 
2027 167,650 
2028 (7.609) 

 

S 550,196 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the 
present alue of projected benefit payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and 
inactive employees that is attributed to those employees' past periods of service, less the amount of the 
pension plan's fiduciary net position. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2023 valuation were based on the assumptions used 
in the June 30, 2023 actuarial funding valuation and were based on the results of an actuarial experience 
study for the period of July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2019. In cases where benefit structures were changed 
after the study period, assumptions were hased on the estimates of filture experience. 
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A sumrnary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2023 are as follows: 

Valuation Date June 30. 2023 

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal 

Actuarial cost assumptions: 

Expected remaining service lives 4 years 

Investment rate of return 6.75%, net of investment expense 

Inflation rate 2.50% 

Projected salary increases Yrs of Service Salary Growth 
1-1 12.30% 

Above 2 4.70% 

Mortality 

Cost of Living Adjustments 

For annuitants and beneficiaries, the Pub-2010 Public 
Retirement Plan Mortality Table fbr Safety Below-
Median Healthy Retirees multiplied by 105% for males 
and 115% for females, each with full generational 
projection using the MP2019 sale was used. 
For disabled lives, the Pub-2011) Public Retirement 
Plans Mortality Table for Safety Disable Retirees 
multiplied hy 105% for males and 115% for females, 
each with full generational projection using the MP2019 
scale was used. 
For employees, the Pub-2011) Public Retirement Plans 
Mortality Table for Safety Below-Median Employees 
multiplied hy 115% for males and 125% for females, 
each with full generational projection ming the MP2019 
scale was used. 

The present value of future retirement benefits is based 
on benefits currently being paid by the System and 
includes previously ganted cost of living increases. 
The present values do not include provisions for 
potential future increases not yet authorized by the 
Board of Trustees. 

The investment rate of return was 6.75%. which was the same as the rate used as of June 30, 2022. 

47 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

The mortality rate assumption used was het based upon an experience study for the period ofJuly 1. 
2014 through June 30, 2019. A change was made full generational mortality which combines the use of a 
hase mortality table with appropriate mortality improvement scales. In order to set the base mortality table, 
actual plan mortality experience was assigned a credibility weighting and combined with a standard table to 
produce current levels of mortality. 

The best estimates of the arithmetic nominal rates of return for each major asset class included in the 
System's target allocation as ofJune 30, 2023 are sununarized in the following table: 

ASSZt Class 

 

Taroet Asset 
Allocation 

Long-Term Expected 

Portfolio Real Rate of 
Return 

Equity 

 

52.00% 3.19% 
Fixed Income 

 

34.00% 1.12% 

Alternative 

 

14.00% 0.95% 

 

rotals 100 00% -.36% 

 

Inflation 

 

.2.54% 

Expected Nominal Return 

 

7.90% 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75%. which was the same from 
the rate used as ofJune 30, 2022. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates and that contributions 
from participating employers will he made at the actuarially detemiined rates apprmed by PRSAC taking 
into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on those assumptions, the System's 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to 
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

The following presents the net pension liability of the participatine employers calculated ming the 
discount rate of 6.75%. as well as what the employers' net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower. 5.75%. or one percentage point higher. 7.75%, than 
the current rate as ofJune 30, 2023: 

Changes in Discount Rate: 
MPERS 

Current 
1% Discount 1% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
5.75% 6.75% 7.75% 

Net Pension Liability 52,419,593 1.719,586 S1,134.81 2  
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Support of Non-Employer Contributing Entities. Contributions received by a pension plan from 
non-employer contributing entities that are not in a special funding situation are recorded as revetme by the 
respective pension plan. The City recopizes revenue in an amount equal to its proportionate share of the 
total contributions to the pension plan from these non-employer contributing entities. During the year ended 
April 30, 2024, the City recognized revenue as a result of support received from the non-employer 
contributing entities of $37.538 for its participation in MPERS. 

Payables to the Pension Plan. The City recorded accrued liabilities to MPERS for the year ended 
April 30. 2024 primarily due to the accrual for payroH at the end of the fiscal year. The halance due to MPERS 
as of Apnl 30, 2024 is S18,019. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued financial repon for MPERS available at www.lampers.org. 

C. Firefighters' Retirement System (FFRS) 

Plan Description: The Firefighters' Retirement System cFFRS1 is a cost-sharing multiple-
employer, defined henefit pension plan established by Act 434 of 1979 to provide retirement, disability and 
survivor benefits to firefighters in Louisiana. 

Eligibility Requirements: Any person who hecomes an employee as defined in RS 11:2252 on 
and after January I. 1980, shall become a member as a condition of employment. Mernbers in FFRS consist 
of full-time firefighters, eligible employees of the retirement system, or any person in a position as detined 
in the municipal fu-e and police civil sell ice system that earns at least 5375 per month, excluding state 
supplemental pay, and is employed by a fire department of any municipality, parish, or fire district of the 
state of Louisiana, except for Orleans Parish and the City of Baton Rouge. 

No person who has attained age 50 or over shall become a member of FFRS unless the person 
becomes a member by reason of merger or unless FFRS received an application for membership befme the 
applicant attained the age of 50. No person who has not attained the age of 18 shall become a member of 
FFRS. 

Any person who has retired from service under anv retirement system or pension fund maintained 
hasically for public officers and employees of the state, its agencies or political subdivisions, and who is 
receiving retirement benefits therefrom may become a member of FFRS, provided the person nieets all other 
requirements for membership. Service credit from the retirement system or pension plan from which the 
member is retired shall not be used for reciprocal recognition of service with FFRS, or for any other purpose 
ui order to attain elObility or mcrease the amount of senice credit in FFRS. 

Retirement Benefits: Employees with 20 or more years of service who have attained age 50, or 
employees who have 12 years of service who have attained age 55. or 25 years of service at any age are 
entitled to annual pension benefits equal to 3.333 .0 of their average final compensation based on the 36 
consecutive months of highest pay multiplied hy their total years of service. not to exceed 100%. Employees 
may elect to receive their pension benefits in the form of a joint and survivor annuity. 

If employees terminate before completing 12 years of service, they forfeit the right to receive the 
portion of their accumulated plan benefits attrihutable to their employer's contributions. 
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Benefits are payable over the retiree& lives in the form of a monthly annuity. A member may dect 
the maximum benefit (unreduced benefit which ceases upon the member's death) or any of six other options 
at retirement 

See R.S. 11.2256( A) for additional details on retirement henefits. 

Disability Benefits. A member who acquires a disability, and who tiles for disability benefits while 
ui service, and who upon medical examination and certification as provided for in Title 11, is found to hme 
a total disability solelv as the result of injuries sustained in the performance of his official duties, or for any 
cause, provided the member has at least five years of creditable service and provided that the disability was 
incurred while the member was an active contributing member in active senice, shall be entitled to disabilitv 
benefits under the provisions of R.S. 1 I :2258(B). 

Death Benefits: Benefits shall he payahle to the surviving eligible spouse or der4ignated beneficiary 
of a deceaseJ member as specified in R.S. 11:2256(B) & (C). 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP). Atter completing 20 yeam of creditable service and 
attaining the age of 5() years, or 25 years at any age, a member may elect to participate in the deferred 
retirement option plan (DROP) for up to 36 months. 

Upon commencement of participation in DROP, employer and employee contributions to FFRS 
cease. The monthly retirement benefit that would have been payable is paid into the member's DROP account. 
Upon termination of employment, a participant in the program has several options to receive their DROP 
henefit. A member may (1) elect to roll over all or a portion of their DROP balance into another eligible 
qualified plan, (2) receive a lump-sum payment from the account, (3) receive single withdrawals at the 
discretion of the member. (4) receive monthly or annual withdrawals, or (5) receive an annuity based on the 
DROP account balance. These withdrawals are in addition to his regular monthly benefit. 

If employment is not terminated at the end of the 36 months, the participant resumes regular 
contributions to FFRS No withdrawals may be made from the DROP account until the participant retires. 

Initial Benetit Option Plan: Effective June 16, 1999, members eligible to retire and who do not 
choose to participate ui DROP rnay elect to receive, at the time of retirement, an initial benefit option 0BO) 
in an amount up to 36 months of benetits, with an actuarial reduction of their future benefits. Such amounts 
may be withdrawn or remain in the IBO account earning interest at the same rate as the DROP account. 

Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs): Under the provisions of R.S 11:246 and 11:2260(A)( 7), the 
board of trustees is authorized to grant retired members and widows of members who have retired an annual 
cost of living increase of up to 3% of their current benefit, and all retired members and widows who are 65 
years of age and older a 90•o increase in their original benefit. In order for the board to grant either of these 
uicreases. FFRS must meet certain cnteria detailed in the statute related to funding status and interest earnings 
(R.S. 11:243) In lieu of these COLAs, pursuant to R.S 11:241, the board may also grant an increase based 
on a formula equal to up to $1 times the total nurnber of years of credited seri, ice accnied at retirement or at 
death of the member or retiree plus the number of years since retirement or since death of the memher or 
retiree to the system's fiscal year end preceding the payment of the benefit increase. If there are not sufficient 
funds to fund the benefit at the rate of one dollar per year for such total number of years, then the rate shall 
he reduced in proportion to the amount of funds that are available to fund the cost-of living adjustment. 
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Contributions: Contribution requirements for employers, non-employer contributing entities, and 
employees are established and may be amended in accordance with Title 11 and Title 22 of the Louisiana 
Revised Statute. 

Eniployer Contributions: According, to state statute, employer contributions are actuarially-
detennined each year. For the year ended June 30. 2023, employer and employee contributions for members 
above the poverty line were 33.25% and 10%, respectively The employer and employee contribution rates 
for those members below the poverty line were 35.25% and 8%, respectively. 

Non-Employer Contributions. According to state statute, FFRS receives msurance premium 
assessments from the state of Louisiana. The assessment is considered support from a non-employer 
contributing entity and appropriated hy the legislature each year based on an actuarial study. Non-employer 
contrihutions were recognized as revenue during the year ended June 30. 2023 and were excluded from 
pension expense. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources. At April 30, 2024, The City reported liabilities in its government-wide financial statements of 
$694,596 in its governmental activities for its proportionate share of the net pension liabilities of FFRS. The 
net pension liahilities were measured as of June 30, 2023 and the total pension liability used to calculate the 
net pension obligation was determined hy separate actuanal valuations perforrned on each of the retirement 
systems as of that date. Under each retirement system_ the City's proportion of the net pension liability was 
based on a projection of the City's long-terrn share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined At June 30, 2023, the City's 
proportional share of FFRS was 0.106422°.;), which was an increase of 0.006706°.;) from its proportion 
measured as ofJune 30, 2022. 

For the year ended April 30, 2024, the City recognized a pension expense of $141.010 in its 
governmental activities related to its participation in FFRS. 
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At Apnl 30, 2024. the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

Governmental Activities 
Deferred Deferred 

Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources 

Difference between expected and actual 
experience S 21.686 S 23,797 

Changes in Assumption 43.030 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 94.144 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 137.007 14.338 

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 93.445 

S  388,311 S 38,135  

Deferred outtlows of resources of $93A45 related to pension resulting from the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an adjustment to thr net pension liability in the 
following fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows ot resources and deferred intlows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognzed in pension expense as 

Year 

follows: 

2025 $ 65,572 
2026 34,357 
1017 113,888 
2028 20,149 
20/9 15,16/ 
2030 7,604 

 

$ 256,732 

Actuarial Assumptions: The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present alue 
of projected benefit payments to he provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive 
employees that is attributed to those employees' past periods of service. less the amount of the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position. 

For each vear. the actuary determines the reasonable range of the actuarial aluation interest rate, an 
expected long-temi portfolio rate of return and standard deviation based upon the System's target asset 
allocation and a thirty-year time horizon. These rates were based on an analysis uf the System's portfolio 
along with expected long-term rates of return, standard deviations of return, and correlations hetween asset 
classes collected from a number of investment consulting finns in addition to the System's investment 
consultant, NEPC. Usuig these values and assuming that fiimre portfolio returns are normally distributed, ten 
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thousand trials of returns over the upcoming thirty years was performed. The results of these tnals were 
organized into percentiles and a reasonable range equal to the 40th through 60th percentiles was set. For the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the reasonable range was set at 6.67% through 7.91% and the Board of 
Trustees elected to set the System's assumed rate of return at 6.90% for Fiscal 2023. 

The remaming actuarial assumptions utilized for this report are based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period July 1, 2014 — June 30, 2019, unless otherwise specified in this report. 
Additional details are gn en in the actualy's complete 2020 Experience Reports for the period July 1, 2014 - 
June 30, 2019 which can be obtained from the Firefighters' Retirement System website at www.firet com 
under the Finance tab, Actuanal Valuations section. 

A sununary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as ofJune 30, 2023 are as tbllows. 

Firefighters' Retirement Srstem 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial cost method 

Actuanal cost assumptions: 

Expected remaining service lives 

Investment rate of return 

Inflation rate 

Projected salary increases 

June 30, 2023 

Entry Age Normal 

7 years 

6.90°4 per annum (net of investment expenses includincz inflation) 

2.50% per annum 

14.100 0 in the first two years of service and 5 20°0 with 3 or more 
years of service. includes inflation and merit increases 

RP-2000 Employee Table for active members 
RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Table for healthy annuitants 

RP-2000 Disabks Laves Mortalitv Tables fbr disabkd annuitants 
For the purpose of determining the present value of benefits, 
COLAs were deemed not to he substantively automatic 
and only those previously granted were included. 

Mortahtv 

Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs) 

The investment rate of return was 6.90%. which was the same from the rate used as ofJune 30. 2022. 

For the June 30, 2023 valuation. assumptions for mortality rates were based on the following: 

• For active members, mortality was set equal to the Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans 
Mortality Table for Safety Below-Median Employees. 

• For annuitants and beneficiaries, mortality was set equal to the Pub-2010 Pubhc 
Retirement Plans Mortality Table for Safety Below-Median Healthy Retirees. 

• For disabled retirees, mortality was set equal to the Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans 
Mortality Table for Safety Disabled Retirees. 

• In all cases the base table was multiplied by 105°.;. for males and 115% for females, each 
with full generational projection using the appropriate MP2019 scale. 
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The June 30. 2023. estimated long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
determined by the System's actuary using the System's target asset allocation as of January 2023 and the 
Curran Actuarial Consulting Average study for 2023. The consultants' average study included projected 
nominal rates of return, standard deviations of returns, and correlations of returns for a list of common asset 
classes collected from a number of investment consultants and investment management firing. Each 
consultant's response included nominal expected long term rates of return. In order to arm e at long term 
expected arithmetic real rates of return, the actuary normalized the data received from the consultant's 
responses in the followmg ways. Where nominal returns received were arithmetic. the actuary simply reduced 
the return assumption by the lone term intlation assumption. Where nominal retunis were eeometric, the 
actuary corn erted the return to anthmetic by adjusting for the long term standard deviation and then reduced 
the assumption by the long term intlation assumption. Using the target asset allocation for the System and 
the average values for expected real rates of return, standard deviation of returns, and correlation of returns, 
an arithmetic expected nominal rate of return and standard deviation for the portfolio was determined. The 
System's long-term assumed rate of inflation of 2.5% was used in this process for the fiscal year ended June 
30, )0/3, 

The long-term expected real rate of return is an important input into the actuars determination of 
the reasonable range for the discount rate which is used in determining the total pension liability. The 
actuary's method incorporates infimmation from multiple consultants and investments firms regarding future 
expected rates of return. 1, anances. and correlation coefficients for each asset class. The actuary's method 
integrates data tiom multiple sources to produce average values thereby reducing reliance on a single data 
source. 

Best estimates of real rates of retum for each major asset class included in the System's target asset 
allocation as ofJune 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, are summarized in the following tahles: 

As ofJune 30, 2023: 

Asset Class 
Target Asset 
Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rates of Return 

Equity: 

  

U.S. Equity 79.5qb 6.24% 
Non-U.S. Equity 11.5% 6.49% 
Glohal Equity 10% 6.49% 
Emerging Market Equity 5% 8.37% 

Fixed Income 

  

U.S. Core Fixed Income 20% 1.89% 
U.S. TIPS 7% 1.72% 
Emerging Market Debt 2% 4.30% 
Multisec tor Fixed Income 

 

4.* * 

Multi-Asset Strategies: 

  

Global Tactical Asset Allocation 0% 4.02% 
Alternatives: 

  

Private Equity 9% 9.57% 
Real Estate 6% 4.41°•0 
Real Assets 

 

5.62% 
OW ;. 
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As of June 30, 'IP ): 

Asset Class 
Target Asset 
Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rates of Return 

Equity: 

  

U.S. Equity -)7.5% 5.64% 
Non-U.S. Equity 11.5% 5.89% 
Global Equity I 0% 5.99% 
Emerging Market Equity 

 

7.75% 
Fixed Income 

  

U.S. Core Fixed Income 18% 0.841!..) 
U.S. TIPS 3% 0.51% 
Emerging Market Debt 5% 2.99% 

Multi-Asset Strate2ies: 

  

Cilobal Tactical Asset Allocation 

 

3.14% 
Risk Panty 0% 3 14% 

Alternatives: 

  

Private Eqtnty 9% 8.99% 
Real Estate 

 

4.57% 
Real Assets 3% 4.89% 

100% 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90%. which was the same from 
the rate used as ofJune 30, .21)22. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes 
that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates, and that contributions 
from participating employers and non-employer contributing entities will be made at the actuarially-
detennined rates approved hy the Board of Trustees and hy the Puhlic Retirement Systems' Actuarial 
Committee takmg into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on these 
assumptions. the Systern's fiduciary net position was projected to he available to make all projected fiiture 
benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensiti‘ity to Changes in Discount Rate: The following presents the net pension liability of the 
participating employers calculated using the discount rate of 6 90%. as well as what the employers' net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one 
percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2023 

Changes in Discount Rate: 
FirefiLihters' Retirement System 

Current 
1% Discount 1% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
5.901?-6 6.90% 7.90% 

Net Pension Liability S 1,071,553 S 694,596 ti 3X0,197 
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Support of Non-Employer Contributing Entities: Contributions received by a pension plan from 
non-employer contributing entities that are not in a special funding situation are recorded as revenue by the 
respective pension plan. The City recopizes revenue in an amount equal to its proportionate share of the 
total contributions to the pension plan from these non-employer contributing entities. During the vear ended 
April 30, 2024, the City recognized revenue as a result of support received from the non-employer 
contributing entities of $31.163 for its participation in FFRS. 

Pavables to the Pension Plan: The City recorded accrued liabilities to FFRS for the year ended April 
30, 2024 priinarily due to the accrual for payroll at the end of the fiscal year. The balance due to FFRS as of 
April 30, 2024 is $8,484. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information ahout the pension plan's tiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued fmancial report for the System available at 
xvww. I a firefi gh tersret.cotn. 

D. Louisiana State Empbyees' Retirement System (LASERS) 

The Court's judge participates in the Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System (LASERS). 
LASERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established by Section 401 of 
Title 11 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes (LA R.S. 11:401) to provide retirement allowances and other 
benefits to eligible officers. employees, and their beneficiaries. The employer pensions schedules tbr the 
Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. 

Benefits ProviJeJ: The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for 
general information purposes onlv. Participants should reter to the appropriate statutes for more complete 
information. 

Retirement: The age and years of creditable service required in order for a member to retire with full 
benefits are established by statute, and vary depending on the member's hire date, employer, and job 
classification. Our rank and file members hired prior to July l, 2006, mav either retire with full henefits at 
any age upon completing 30 years of creditable service, at age 55 upon completing 25 years of credible 
service, and at age 60 upon completine 10 years of creditable service depending on their plan. Those 
members hired between July 1, 2006 anJ June 30, 2015, may retire at age 60 upon completing fi% e years of 
creditable service and those hireJ on or after July 1, 2015 may retire at age 62 upon completing fne vears of 
creditahle service. The basic annual retirement henefit for members is equal to 2.5°,-;. to 3 5% of average 
compensation multiplied by the number of years of creditable service. Additionally. members may choose to 
retire with 20 years of service at any age. with an actuarially reduced benefit. 

Average compensation is defined as the member's average annual earned compensation for the 
highest 36 consecutive months of employment for members employed prior to July 1, 2006. For members 
hired July 1. 2006 or later. average compensation is hased on the member's average annual earned 
compensation for the highest 60 consecutive months of employment. The maximum annual retirement 
benefit cannot exceed the lesser of 100% of average compensation or a certain specified dollar amount of 
actuarially determined monetary limits, which vary dependine upon the member's age at retirement Judges, 
court officers, and certain elected officials receive an additional annual retirement benefit equal to 1% of 
average compensation multiplied by the number of years of creditable service in their respective capacity. 
As an Atemative to the basic retirement benefits, a member may elect to receive their retirement throughout 
their lite, with certain benefits being paid to their designated beneficiary after their death. 
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Act 992 of the 2010 Louisiana Regular Legislath e Session. changed the benefit structure for 
LASERS members hired on or after Jatmary 1, 2011. This resulted in three new plans: regular, hazardous 
duty. and judges. The new regular plan includes regular members and those members who were formerly 
eligible to participate in specialty plans, excluding hazardous dutv and judees. Regular members and judges 
are eligible to retire at age 60 after five years of creditable service and, mav also retire at any age, with a 
reduced benefit. after 20 years of creditable service. Hazardous duty mernbers are eligible to retire with 
twelve years of creditable service at age 55, 25 years of creditable service at any age or with a reduced benefit 
after 20 years of creditable service. A‘ erage compensation will he based on the member's average annual 
earned compensation for the highest 6() consecutive months of employment for all three new plans. Members 
ui the regular plan will receive a 2.5% accrual rate, hazardous duty plan a 3.33% accnial rate, and judges a 
3.5% accrual rate. The extra 1.0% accmal rate for each year of service for court officers, the governor, 
lieutenant governor, legislators, House clerk, sergeants at arms, or Senate secretary, employed after January 
1, 2011. was elimmated by Act 992. Specialty plan and regular members hired prior to January 1. 2011, who 
are hazardous dutv employees have the option to transition to the new hazardous duty plan. 

Act 226 of the 2014 Louisiana Regular Legislative Session established new retirement eligibility for 
members of LASERS hired on or after July 1. 2015, excluding hazardous duty plan members. Regular 
members and judges under the new plan are eligible to retire at age 62 after five years of creditable service 
and, may also retire at anv age, with a reduced benefit, after 20 years of creditable service. Average 
compensation will be based on the member's average annual earned compensation for the highest 60 
consecutive months of employment. Members in the regular plan will receive a 2.5% accrual rate, and judges 
a 3.5% accmal rate, with the extra 1.0% accrual rate based on all years of service as a judge. 

Members of the Harbor Police Retirement System who were members prior to July 1, 2014, may 
retire after 25 years of creditable service at any age, 12 years of creditable service at age 55, 20 vears of 
creditable service at age 45, and 10 years of creditable service at age 60. A‘ erage compensation for the plan 
is the member's average annual eamed compensation for the highest 36 consecwive months of employment, 
with a 3.33% accrual rate. 

A member leaving employment before attaining mniimum retirement age, but after completing 
certain minimum service requirements, becomes elieible for a benefit provided the memher lives to the 
minimum service retirement age, and does not withdraw their accumulated contributions. The inimmum 
service requirement for benefits varies depending upon the member's employer and service classification. 

Deferred Retirement Benefits: The State Leeislature authorized LASERS to establish a Deferred 
Retirement Option Plan (DROP). When a member enters DROP. their status changes from active member 
to retiree even though they continue to work and draw their salary for a period of up to three years. The 
election is irrevocable once participation begun. During DROP participation, accumulated retirement 
benefits that would have heen paid to each retiree are separately tracked. For members who entered DROP 
prior to Januar),  1, 2004, interest at a rate of one-half percent less than the System's realized return on its 
portfolio (not to he less than zero) will be credited to the retiree after participation ends. At that time. the 
member must choose among available alternatives for the distribution of benefits that have accumulated in 
the DRC)P account. Members who enter DRC)P on or after January 1, 2004, are required to participate in 
LASERS Self-Directed Plan (SDP) which is administered by a third-party provider. The SDP allows DROP 
participants to choose from a menu of investment options for the allocation of their DROP balances. 
Participants may diversify their investments hy choosing from an approved list of mutual funds with different 
holdings, management styles. and risk factors. 
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Members eligible to retire and who do not choose to participate in DRC)P mav elect to receive at the 
time of retirement an initial benefit option (1BO) in an arnount up to 36 months of benefits, with an actuarial 
reduction of their future benefits. For members who selected the IBO option prior to January 1. 2004. such 
amount may be withdrawn or remain in the IBO account earning interest at a rate of one-half percent less 
than the System's realized return on its portfolio (not to be less than zero). Those members who select the 
IBC) on or after January 1. 2004, are required to enter the SDP as described above. 

For members who are in the Harbor Police Plan, the annual I)ROP Interest Rate is the three-year 
average (calculated as the compound average of 36 months) investment return of the plan assets for the period 
ending the June 30th immediately preceding that given date. The average rate so determined is to be reduced 
by a "contingency-  adjustment of 0.5%, but not to below zero. DROP interest is forfeited if member does 
not cease employment after DROP participation. 

Disahility Benefits: Generally, active members with ten or more years of credited service who 
become disabled may receive a maximum disability retirement benefit equivalent to the regular retirement 
fomiuh without reduction by reason of age. 

Upon reaching retirement age, the disability retiree may receive a regular retirement henefit hv 
makinL,  application to the Board of Trustees. 

For injuries sustained in the line of duty, hazardous duty personnel in the Hazardous Duty Services 
Plan will receive a disability benefit equal to 75% of final average compensation or 100% of the final average 
compensation if the injury was the result of an intentional act of violence. 

Members of the Harbor Police Retirement System who hecome disabled niay receive a non-line of 
duty disability benefit after five years or more of credited service. Members age 55 or older may receive a 
disabil4 benetit equivalent to the regular retirement benefit. Under age 55, the disability benefit is equal to 
40% of tinal average compensation Line of duty disability benefits are equal to 60% of final average 
compensation, regardless of years of credited service or 100% of final average compensation if the injury 
was an intentional act of violence. If the disability benefit retiree is permanently confined to a wheelchair, 
or. is an amputee incapable of selling as a law enforcement officer, or the benefit is permanently legally 
binding, there is no reduction to the benefit if the retiree becomes gainfully employed. 

Survivor Benefits: Certain eligible survn, ing dependents receive benefits based on the deceased 
member's compensation and their relationship to the deceased. The deceased regular member hired before 
January 1. 2011 who was in state service at the tirne of death must have a minimum of five years of service 
credit, at least nvo of which were earned immediately prior to death, or who had a minimum of twenty years 
of service credit reL,ardless of when earned in order for a benefit to be paid to a minor or handicapped child. 
Benefits are payahle to an unmarried child until age 18, or age 23 if the child remains a full-time student. 
The aforementioned minimum service credit requirement is ten years for a surviving spouse with no minor 
chiklren. and benefits are to be paid for life to the spouse or qualified handicapped child. 

The deceased regular member hired on or afier January 1, 2011. must have a minimum of five years 
of service credit regardless of when earned in order for a benefit to be paid to a tninor child. The 
aforementioned minimum service credit requirements for a surviving spouse are 10 years. 2 years being 
earned immediately prior to death, and active state service at the time of death, or a minimum of 20 years of 
sell ice credit regardless of when earned. A deceased member's spouse must have been marned for at least 
one year betbre death. 
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A Hazardous Duty Services Plan member's survking spouse and mmor or handicapped or mentally 
incapacitated child or children are entitled to survivor benefits of 80q.i. of the member's final average 
compensation if the member was killed in the line of duty. If the member dies in the line of duty as a result 
of an intentional act of violence, survivor benefits may be increased to 100q.i. of the members fuial averaee 
compensation. 

Non-line of duty survivor henetits of the Harbor Police Retirement System may be received atler a 
minimum of five years of credited service. Sun ivor benefits paid to a surviving spouse without children are 
equal to 40% of final average compensation and cease upon remarriaee. Surviving spouse with children 
under 18 benefits are equal to 60% of fmal erage compensation. and cease upon remarriage. and children 
turning 18. No minnnum service credit is required for line of duty survivor benefits which are equal to 60% 
of tinal average compensation to surviving spouse, or 1(10% of final average compensation if the injury was 
the resuh of an intentional act of violence regardless of children. Line of duty survivor benefits cease upon 
remarriage, and then henefit is paid to children under 18. 

Permanent Benefit Increa&esrost-of-Living Adjustments: As fully descnbed in Title 11 of the 
Louisiana Revised Statutes, LASERS allows fix-  the payment of permanent benefit increases, also known as 
cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs) that are funded through investment earnings when recommended by 
the Board of Trustees and approved by the State Legislature. 

Contributions: The employer contrihution rate is established annually under LRS 11:401-11:104 by 
the Puhlic Retirement Systems' Actuarial Committee ( PRSAC), taking into consideration the 
recommendation of the System's Actuary. Each plan pays a separate actuarily-determined employer 
contribution rate. However, all assets of LASERS are used for the payment of benefits for all classes of 
members, regardless of their plan membership The rates for the year ended June 30, 2023 fbr the various 
plans are as follows: 

Plan Contributions 
Plan S tutus Employer 

Appellate Law Clerks C. 40.4 
Appellate Law Clerks hired on or after 7;01;06 (- 

ied % 
l to' ' 's e d 40.4% 

Alcohol Tobacco Control Closed 43.940 
Bridge Police Closed 39.3?0 
Bridge Police hired on or after 7;01;06 Closed  

3399..32:: Corrections Primary Closed 
Corrections Secondary Closed 43.4°0 
Harbor Police Closed 467 
Hazardous Duty Open 46..1:: 
Judges hired before 1/1.2011 Closed 44.8°o 
Judges hired after 12;31.'2010 44.8°0 Closed 
Judges hired on or after 7r 1/15 Open 43.8? i, 
Legislators 

(

C: l

i

 t

o

i le 

d

d 
Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) before 7:01:06 Closed 

36.6?0 
37.9% 

Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) on or after 7;01;06 37.9% 
Peace Ofticers Closed 41.8? i, 
Regular Employees hired before 7/01/06 Closed 4(1.4?o 
Regular Employees hired on or after 7'01'06 Closed 40.4°;) 
Regular Employees hired on or after 1.1.11 Closed 40.4% 
Regular Employees hired on or after 7'1'15 Open 40.4? i, 
Special Legislative Employees Closed 38.6°o 
Wildlife Agents Closed 51.no 0 

Agvegate Rate	 41.0° ii 
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The agency's contractually required composite contribution rate for the plan year ended June 30, 
2023 was 4111% of annual payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee 
contributions, is expected to fmance the costs of benefits earned hy employees during the year with an 
additional amount to tinance anv Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liahility 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense. and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions. At April 30. 2024, the City reported a liability of $61,447 fin- its proportionate 
share of the LASERS net pension liability. The net pension liability wa.s measured as of June 30, 2023 and 
the total pension liahility used to calculate the net pension oblieation was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of that date. The City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-
term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2023, the City's proportion was 0.000920%, which was a 
decrease of 0.000060% from its proportion measured as of June 30. 2022. 

For the year ended April 30. 2024, the City recognzed pension expense of $4,481 m its 
governmental activities related to its participation in LASERS. 

At April 30, 21124, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to LASERS from the following sources: 

Deferred Outtlows 
of Resources 

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources 

S 1,330 ¶ 

351 

  

1,957 

7.888 

 

9.509 S 1.957 

Differences between expected and actual 
expenses 

Net differences between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan investments 

Change in proportion and differences between 
employer contributions and proportionate share 
of contributions 

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

Total 

Deferred outflows of resources of $7,888 related to pension resulting fiom the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an adjustment to the net pension liability in the 
following fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year 

1015 $ (277) 

2026 (2,219) 
2027 3.026 
2028 (8(6) 

 

(276) 
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Contributions - Proportionate Share: Differences between contributions remitted to the System and 
the employer's proportionate share are recopized in pension expense using the straight-line aniortization 
method over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees 
that are provided with a pension through the pension plan. The resulting deterred inflow outflow and 
amortization is not retlected in the Schedule of Pension Amounts by Employer due to differences that could 
arise between contnhutions reported by the System and contnhutions reported by the participating employer. 

Actuarial Assumptions: The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present ‘alue 
of projected henefit payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive 
employees that is attnbuted to those employees' past penods of sen ice. less the amount of the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position. A sumniary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total 
pension liability as of June 30, 2023 are as follows. 

LASERS Retirement System 

June 30. 2023 

Entry Age Normal 

Closed 

2 years 

7.25% per annum, net of investment expense 

2.3% per annum 

Non-disabled members - Mortality rates were based on 
the RP-2014 Blue Collar (males:females) and White 
Collar (females) Healthy Annuitant Tahles projected on a 
fully generational basis by Mortality Improvement Scale 
MP-2018. 
Disahled members - Mortality rates based on the RP-
2000 Disahled Retiree Mortality Table, with no 
projection for mortality improvement. 

Termination, disability. and retirement assumptions were 
pntjected based on a five year (2014-2018) experience 
study of the System's members. 

Salary increases were projected hased on a 2014-2018 
experience study of the System's members. The salary 
increase ranges for specific types of members are: 

Member Type 
Lower 
Range 

Upper 
Range 

Regular 

 

12.8% 
Judges 2.6% 5.1% 
Corrections 3.6% 13.8% 
Hazardous Duty 3.6% 13.8% 

 

3.6% 13.8% 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial Cost Method 

Amortization approach 

Expected Remaining Service Lit es 

Investment Rate of Return 

Inflation Rate 

Nfortality Rates 

Termination. Disability. and 
Retirement 

Salary Increases 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Cost of Living Adjustnients The present value of future retirement benefits is based 
on benefits currently being paid by the System and 
includes previously granted cost of living increases. The 
projected henetit payments do not include provisions for 
potential future increases not yet authonzed by the Board 
of Trustees as they were deemed not to he substantively 
automatic. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determmed using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected tliture real rates of return (expected returns. net of 
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of 
retum by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation of 2.3% and an adjustment 
for the effect of rebalancing/diversification. The resulting expected long-term rate of return is 819'!.o for 
2023. The target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class 
included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of June 30. 2023 are summarized in the following 
tahle: 

Asset Class 
Long-Tenn Expected 
Real Rate of Return 

Cash 0.80% 
Domestic equity 4.45% 
Interna tiona 1 equity 5.44% 
Domestic fixed income 2.04% 
International tixed income 5.33% 
Al ternat i ve investments 8.19% 

Total Fund 5.75% 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. which was the same from 
the rate used as ofJune 30, 2022. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions 
from participating employers will he made at contractually required rates approved hy PRSAC taking into 
consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's 
fuluciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
active and inactive plan members. Theretbre, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
mvestments was applied to all periods of projected henefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

The following presents the Ernployer's proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what the Employer's proportionate share of the Net Pension 
Liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage-point lower or one 
percentage-point higher than the current rate: 

Chanees in Discount Rate: 
LASERS Retirement System 

1% Current 1% 
Decrease Discount Rate Increase 
6.25% 7.75% 8.25% 

Net Pension Liability 80,459 61,447 45,339 

Payables to the Pension Plan: The City recorded accrued liabilities to LASERS for the year ended 
April 30, 2024 primarily due to the accrual tbr payroll at the end of the fiscal year The balance due to PERS 
as of Apnl 30, 2024 is $717. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information ahout the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued LASERS 2023 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report at 
www.lasersonline.org. 

Aggegate Net Pension Liability, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources 
and 

Pension Expense 

As detailed above, the City participates in four separate defined benefit pension plans. The aggregate 
amounts for the City's participation in Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MFRS). 
Municipal, State Police Retirement System of Louisiana (MPERS), Firefighters' Retirement System FFRS ), 
and Louisiana State Etnployees' Retirement System (LASERS) are as follows: 

Employer's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability: 
Governmental 

Activities 
Business-Type 

Activities Total 
MERS 2,457,135 S 819,045 $3.270,160 
MPERS 1,719.586 

 

1,719.586 
FFRS 694.596 

 

694.596 
LASERS 61.447 

 

61.447 

Total S 4.932,764 $ 819,045 S5.751,800 

Deferred Outflows of Resources. 

    

Governmental Business-Type 

  

Activities Activities Total 
MERS S 657.608 $ 219,203 $ 876.811 
MPERS 794.027 

 

794.027 
FFRS 388.312 

 

388.312 
LASERS 9,569 

 

9,569 

Total 1JO9,516 $ 219.203 52.068,719 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-Type 
Activities Total 

MERS S 105.193 $ 35.064 $ 140.257 
MPERS 51,539 

 

51,539 
FFRS 38,135 

 

38,135 
LASERS 1.957 

 

1.957 

Total S 196.824 35.064 231.888 

Pension Expense: 

    

Governmental Business-Type 

  

Activities Activities Total 
MERS S 319.748 $ 106,583 $ 426.331 
MPERS 389.9'3 

 

389.9/3 
FFRS 141,010 

 

141,(I10 
LASERS 4,481 

 

4,481 

Total S 855.162 $ 106.583 961.745 

t15) Prior Period Adjustments 

During the year ended April 30, 2024, the City made adjustments to correct accounting errors in 
previously issued tinancial statements. Prior year interfund balances between the City's water fund 
(collecting fund) and liquid and solid fund (receiving fund) were intended to be transferred at the 
discretion of the City dependent upon operating results of the water fund. Additionally, revenues with 
use and tirne restrictions were prematurely recognized in the General fund. The schedule helow 
summarizes the impact on fund balances and net position previously reported. 

 

As Previously 

   

Reported Adjustments AS Restated 
Government-wide financial statements 

   

Ciovemmental activities $ 13.218,598 $ (2,233,530) S 10,985,068 
Business-type activities (1.176,230) 2,200,000 1.023,770 

Fund financial statements 
Governmental funds 

   

General ftmd $ 933,400 (33,530) S 899,870 
Liquid and solid waste 2.599,47(1 (2,200,000) 399,470 

(16 ► On-Behalf Payments of Salaries 

During the year ended April 30. 2024. the State of Louisiana paid the City's policemen and 
firemen $58,430 and $42,646, respectively, of supplemental pay, which is included in the accompanying 
financial statements as intergovernmental revenues and public safety expensesiexpenditures. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

( 1 7  ) Compensation of (*ity Officials 

A detail of compensation paid to the City Council for the year ended April 30. 2024 follows. 

 

Salary 
Expense 

Allowance Total 
Chuck Autin $ 7,800 $ 1,800 $ 9,600 
Joseph Garnson 7,800 1,800 9.64)0 
Larry Guilbeau 7,800 1,800 9,600 
Lester Levine 8,400 1,800 10.200 

Jamie Robison 7,800 1,890 9,600 

Total $ 39.600 S 9.000 S 48.600 

Act 706 of the 2014 Legislative Session amended RS 24:5I3A requiring additional disclosure of 
total compensation. reimbursements, benefits, or other payments made to a political subdivision head. For 
the year ended April 30, 2024, payrnents made to Mayor Eugene Foulcard requiring disclosure are as follows: 

Salary $ 60.000 
Car allowance 5,400 
Benefits-retirement 17.700 

Benefits-sick pay 790 
Benefits-health insurance 4,053 
Expense allowance-unvouchered 3,000 
Cell phone allowance 436 
Dues 420 

Total $ 91.799 

(18) Tax Abatements 

The City is subject to certain property tax abatements granted hy the Louisiana Board of Commerce 
and Industry ("Lecn, a state entity governed by hoard members representing major economic groups and 
gubernatorial appointees. Abatements to which the City may be suhject include those issued for property 
taxes under the Industrial Tax Exemption Program t"ITEr) and the Restoration Tax Abatement Prop-am 
("RTAP- ) In addition, local governments have the authority to grant sales tax rebates to taxpayers pursuant 
to the Emerprise Zone Tax Rebate Prordm. For the year ended April 30, 2024. the City incurred abatements 
of ad valorem taxes through ITEP. 

ITEP authonzed by Article 7, Section 21(F) of the Louisiana Constitution. Companies qualifying 
as manufacturers can apply to the LBCI for a property tax exemption on all new property, as defined, used 
ui the manufacturing process. Under ITEP, companies are required to promise to expand or buikl 
manufacturing facilities in Louisiana, with a minimum investment of $5 million. The exemptions are granted 
for a 5-year term and are renewable for an additional 5-year term upon approl, al hy LBCI. These state-granted 
abatements have resulted in reductions of property taxes. which the Citv administers as a temporary reduction 
in the assessed value of the property involved. The abatement agreements stipulate a percentage reduction of 
property taxes, which can be as much as 100 percent. The local government may recapture abated taxes if a 
company fails to expand facilities or otherwise fails to fulfill its commitments under the ageement. For the 
year ended April 30, 2024, S45,882 in City ad 1, alorem tax revenues were abated by the State of Louisiana 
through ITEP. 

65 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

(19) New Accounting Pronouncements Scheduled to be Iinplemented 

The following is a surnrnary of accounting standards adopted by the Go‘ernmental Accountmg 
Standards Board (GASB) that are scheduled to he implemented in the future that rnay affect the City's 
financial report: 

GASB Statement 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - An Amendment of CiASB 
Statement No. 62. The primary objective of this Staternent is to enhance accounting and financial 
reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide more understandable, 
reliable, relevant, consistent, and cornparable information for making decisions or assessmg 
accountability. The standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2023 The 
effect of implementation on the City's financial statements has not yet been determined. 

GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences The objective of this Statement is to better 
rneet the information needs of financial staternent users by updating the recognition and rneasurernent 
guidance for compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recounition and 
measurement guidance under a unified rnodel and hy arnending certain previously required disclosures. 
This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023. The effect of 
implementation On the City's financial staternents has not yet been determined. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISLANA 

Budgetary Companson Schedule 
Cieneral Fund 

Year Ended April 30, 2024 

 

Budveted Amounts Actual 
Amounts 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
(Negative) 

 

Ori •rin Final 

Taxes: 

    

Ad valorem $ 557.200 $ 564,220 $ 557.491 $ (6,729) 
Sales 2,190.000 2.190,000 2.008.206 (181,794) 
Franchise 400 000 400,000 412,206 12.206 

 

3,147,200 3.154,220 2.977.903 (176,317) 

Licenses and pennits 438.000 453,000 442,196 (10.804) 

Intergovernmental. 

    

Video poker and gaming 250,000 250,000 )54.'09 4,209 
Federal Government 1,500,000 1,770,000 1,770,840 840 
State of Louisiana 4,395,000 3.365,000 2.638.121 (726,879) 
St. Mary Parish Council 217,500 224,500 203,727 (20.773) 

 

6,362,500 5,609,50(1 4,866,897 (742,603) 

Insurance rebates 120,000 120,000 188.175 68,175 

Fines and forfeits 28.000 145,000 155,445 10.445 

Rentals 24.000 48,000 51,45'c ; ..415 

Interest 1 00 500 1.581 1.081 

Cemetery plot and mausoleum sales 60,000 100,000 96,867 (3,133) 

Miscellaneous 
Donations 4,000 

   

Other sources 55,120 146,050 169,730 23,680 

 

59 120 146.050 160.730 1 3.680 

Total revenues 1(1,239,020 9,776,27(1 8,950,249 (826,021) 

    

(continued) 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 
General Fund (continued) 

Year Ended April 30, 2024 

 

Budgeted Amounts Actual 
Amounts 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
(Negative) 

 

Ori inal Final 

Expenditures: 
General Government - 

    

Administrative 526,135 515,810 493,801 22,009 
Judicial 751.600 615.100 612,786 2,314 

Public Safety - 

    

Police 1.594,500 1,821.950 2,067.446 (245,496) 
Fire 900,180 874,900 953.315 (78,415) 

Public works - 
Streets and drainage 803.600 841.330 798.208 43,122 

Other funding 127,300 119,900 144,914 (25,014) 
Recreation 307.155 369.300 376.527 (7,227) 
Community development 61.150 58,180 (i7,119 (8,939) 
Debt service-

     

Principal 130.1)()0 117.000 124.491 (7,491) 
Interest and fiscal charges 44,000 56.000 47.522 8,478 

Capital Outlay 

    

Administrative 

 

3,000 5,718 (2,718) 
Police 

 

63,000 51,917 11,083 
Fire 45,000 627,000 51,912 575,088 
Public works 6,000 - 

  

Recreation 5,000 336.wo 390.126 (53.32(i) 
Total expenditures. 5.301,620 6.419.270 6.185.8()? 233,468 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 4,937.400 3,357.000 1,764.447 (592,553) 

Other financing sources (uses): 

    

Issuance of debt 500.000 580,000 786,160 206,160 
Proceeds from sale of assets 15,000 45,000 73,763 28,763 
Transfers in 

 

988,000 94,568 (893,432) 
Transfers out 15.452.400) (4.970.000) (3,501.938) 1,468,0(12 

Total other financing sources (uses) (4.937.400) (3.357,00(1) (2.547.447) 809,553 

Net change in fund halance 

  

.217,000 217,000 

Fund balance, begmning, as restated 899.:•.470 899.870 899.870 

 

Fund balance. ending $ 899.870  $ 899,870  $ 1,116,87(1  $ 217,000  

See accompanying independent audituev report and notes to required supplementary inlioniation. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 
Liquid and Solid Waste Fund 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Budgeted Amounts Actual 
Amounts 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
(Neptive) Original Final 

Revenues: 
Taxes 

   

Ad valorem $ 230.000 $ 230,000 $ 229,760 $ (240) 
Sales 1,378,000 1,300,000 1.135.924 (164.076) 

Sewer service charges 241,0(O 171,000 1l+U.5£8 9.588 
Sanitation service charges 705,0(O 745,000 764.647 19.647 
Intergovernmental 200,000 200,000 191.341 (8.659) 

Interest earned 20 20 3 (17) 
Total revenues 2,754,020 2,646,020 2.502.263 (143.757) 

Expenditures: 

   

Sanitation - 

   

Administrative 417,386 439,125 443.825 (4.700) 
Meter department 145,400 123,700 117,829 5,8'71 
Sewer collection 470,800 397,700 369,128 '8,571 
Sewer plant 661,727 645,050 648,760 (3,710) 
Sohd waste 705,000 714,000 740.517 (26.517) 

Debt service-

    

Principal retirement 54,000 54,000 55.000 (1.000) 
Interest and tiscal charges 11.000 11,000 10,457 543 

Capital outlay - 86,800 86.(i59 141 
Total expenditures 2,465,313 2,471,375 2.472.175 (800) 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 288,707 174,645 30.088 (144,557) 

Other financing sources (uses): 

   

Operating transfers in - - 20,000 20.000 
Operating transfers out (6.00(1) (20.000) (76,734) (50,734) 

Total other financing sources (uses) (6.000) (2D,00(1) (50,734) (36,734) 

Net change in fund balance 282,707 154,045 (26,646) (181,291) 

Fund balance, begmnine, 399,470 399,470 399.470 - 

Fund balance, ending $ 68).177 5 554.115 $ 372,824 $ (181291) 

See indep,mdent report and notes to required supplementary information 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN. LOUISIANA 

Schedule of EmployeA Share of Net Pension Liability 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Empkyer 
Plan Proportion 
Year of the 
ended Net Pension 

June 30. Liability 

Employer 
Proportionate 
Share of the 
Net Pension 

Liability 
Covered 

Payroll 

Employer's 

Proportionate Share 

of the Net Pension 

Liability as a 

Percentage of its 

Covered 

Payroll 

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position 

as a Percentage 
of the Total 

Pension Liability  

Municipal Employees' Renrement Systen3 
2016 0.826225% $ 3,386,457 S1.478.889 "9.0°,0 62 11°o 
2017 0.701866% $ 2,936,201 S1.274.736 230.3% 62 49% 

2018 0.727959% $ 3,014,244 S1.326,141 227.3°0 63 94% 

2019 0.828828°0 $ 3,463.392 S1.526.023 227.0°0 64 68° o 

2020 0.915050% $ 3,956,135 51,741.192 1 27.2% 64 52% 

2021 0.887483°0 $ 2,468,537 S1,752.609 I40.8"u 77 82° o 

1 01 ' 0.938331% $ 3,897,108 51.793.857 217.2% 67 87% 

/0/3 0.896389°0 $ 3,276,180 S1.831.705 178.9% 72 46% 

Municipal Police Employees' Retireinent System 

   

2016 0.119337% $ 1,118,524 S 326.744 342.3"u 66 04°0 
2017 0.093529°0 $ 816,548 S 248,195 329.0°0 66 04° o 

2018 0.105378°0 $ 890,872 S 284.374 313.3°u 71 89% 
2019 0.101163°'o $ 918.729 S 343.863 267.2°0 71 01% 
/0/0 0.081862% $ 756,596 S 264.888 285.6% 70 94% 
/0/ I 0.125169% $ 667,219 S 381.866 174.7% 84 09°.0 
/01/ 0.171338% $ 1,751,379 S 5/9.045 331.0% 70 80! o 

2023 0.162763°o $ 1,719,586 S 552.982 311.0% 71 30% 

Firefighters' Retirement System 

    

2016 0.074360% $ 486,382 S 169,997 286.1% 68 16°o 
2017 0.061138°0 $ 350,434 S 139.455 251.3% 73 55% 
2018 0.081638°'o $ 469.588 S 171.193 274.3% 74 7610 
2019 0.072603% $ 454,633 S 175.470 159.1% 73 96% 
2020 0.077073°o $ 534,235 S 191.880 278.4% 72 61% 
202 l 0.087304° o $ 309,392 S 218,983 141.3% 86 78% 

2022 0.099716° o $ 703,127 S 255.686 275.0% 74 68% 

2023 0.106422% $ 694.596 S 285.684 243.1% 77 69% 

Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System 

   

2016 0.001050% $ 81,452 S /2,374 368.5% 57 730.0 

2017 11.(I(11f}Rfl°o $ 75,949 S 20.854 364.2"o 62 54° o 

2018 0.001020° o $ 69,836 S 20.854 334.9% 64 30° o 

2019 0.001000% $ 72,377 S 20,854 347.1% 62 90% 

2020 0.001000% $ 82,541 S 20.854 395.8% 58 00°0 

/0/1 0.000990qo $ 54,544 S 20,854 261.6% 72 80% 

2022 0.000980° o $ 74,161 S 20.854 355.6% 63 65° o 

2023 0.000920°'o $ 61.447 S 20,854 294.7°o 68 42°. o 

TN.; schohde ie intended to sbust infininationfiir 10 rears. Additional years NlJI be ditpimed diet become available 

See independent outlaws rtpurt and notes to required utpp!einentary intortnatiun. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Employer Pension Contributions 
Year Ended April 30, 202-1 

Contributions in 
Relation to Contributions 

Fiscal Contractually Contractual Contribution as a % of 
Year ended Required Required Deficiency Covered Covered 
April 30. Contribution Contribution (Excess) PflToll Pa TO11 

Municipal Employees' Retirement System    
2017 S 290.697 $ 289.495 1,202 S 1,306.502 22.16% 
2018 S 316.315 $ 316,125 200 S 1,295.530 24.40% 
2019 S 385.1 45 $ 378.977 6,268 S 1.469.933 1 5.78% 
2020 S 489,068 $ 489,068 

 

S 1,782.117 27.44% 
1011 S 510.557 $ 510.557 

 

S 1,746.814 29.23% 
2022 S 518.422 $ 518,422 

 

S 1,800,808 28.79% 
10,3 S 558,214 $ 558,214 

 

S 1,558.776 35.81% 
2024 S 531.793 $ 532,793 

 

S 1,487,838 35.81% 

Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System 

   

2017 S 97.271 $ 96,746 525 S 310.028 31.21% 
2018 S 80,617 $ 80,587 30 S 260.755 30.91% 
2019 S 103.731 $ 103,681 50 S 324,160 31.98% 
-1010 S 86.716 $ 86.716 

 

S 267.254 32.45% 
2021 S 120.950 $ 120,950 

 

S 360.235 33.58% 
101 2 S 128.880 $ 12?4.8£0 

 

S 508.936 25.31% 
2023 S 157,580 $ 157,580 

 

S -142.524 35.61% 
2024 S 172.612 $ 172,612 

 

S 566,386 30.48% 

Firefighters' Retirement System 

    

2017 S 38.400 $ 38.603 (203) S 150.096 25.72% 
2018 S 51,072 $ 51,128 (56) S 194.251 ?6.32% 
2019 S 43.843 $ 43.843 

 

S 165.447 26.50% 
2020 S 55.082 $ 55,082 

 

S 200,206 27.51% 
2021 S 68,126 $ 68,126 

 

S 215.382 31.63% 
2022 S 70.622 $ 711,622 

 

S 246,337 28.67% 
2023 S 86,911 $ 86,911 

 

S 240.821 36.09% 
2024 S 95.240 $ 95.240 

 

S 281.037 33.89% 

Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System 

   

2017 S 7.744 $ 7,758 (14) S 20,854 37.20% 
2018 S 8.157 $ 8.142 15 S 20.854 39.04% 
2019 S 8.154 $ 8,157 (3) S 20.854 39.11% 
2020 S 8.927 $ 8.927 

 

S 21.656 41.22% 
2021 S 9,041 $ 9,041 

 

S )0.854 43.35% 
2022 S 8.277 $ 8,277 

 

S 20,854 39.69% 
2023 S 8.396 $ 8.396 

 

S 17.646 47.58% 
2024 S 8.605 $ 8,605 

 

S 17.646 48.76% 

This solmItile iniended to shim hi/Or-ma:ton for 10 vears Addiuonalvears will be displa)vd ns they become available. 
See independent auditor!s report and notes to required supplementary in/Om:awn 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Basis of Accounting 

The budget is adopted on a basis consistent with generallv accepted accounting pnnciples 
(GAAP). Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or as finally amended by the Mayor and the City 
Council. 

(2) Budgets and Budgetaly Reporting 

The City follows these procedures in establishing budgetary data: 

A. The City's Chief Financial Officer prepares a proposed budget for the general and special 
revenue funth; and submits them to the Mayor and City Council. 

B. A summary of the proposed budget is published and the public notitied that the proposed 
budget is available for public inspection. At the same time, a public hearing is called. 

C. A puhlic hearing is held on the proposed budget at kast ten days afier publication of the call 
fi.►r the hearing. 

D. Atter holding the public hearing and completion of all action necessary to finahze and 
implement the budget, the budget is adopted through passage of a resolution prior to the 
commencement of the fiscal year for which the budget is being adopted. 

E. Budgetary amendments involving the transfers of fund.s from one department, progam, or 
function to another or involving increases in expenditures resulting from revenues 
exceeding amounts estimated require the approval of the City Council. 

F. All hudgetary appropriations lapse at the end of each fiscal year. 

G. Budgetary control is exercised at the fund level. 

3 ) Expenditures in Excess of Appropriations 

Actual expenditures exceeded budgeted appropnations in the Liquid and Solid Waste Ftuid hv 
$800. 
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CITY (JF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information (coi ued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Retirement Sx. ems 

Municipal Employees' Retirement System 

A. Changes of benefit terms - There were no changes of benefit terms. 

B. Changes of assumptions - 

Fiscal 
Year ended 
April 30, 

Discount 
Rate 

Investment 
Rate 

of Return 
Inflation 

Rate 

Expected 
Remaining 

Service Lives 

Projected 
Salary 

Increase 
1 017 7.500% 7.500% 2 875% 3 5.0% 
2018 7 400% 7.400% 1 .775% 3 5.0% 
2019 7.275% 7.175% 2.600°.,, 3 5.0% 
2020 7 000% 7.000% 2.500% 

 

4.5% - 6.5°.b 
2021 6.950°.,. 6.950% 2.500% 3 4.5°.,. - 6.4% 
2022 6.850°.,, 6.850% 1.500% 3 4.5°.,, - 6.4% 
2023 6.850% 6.850% 2 500% 3 4.5% - 6.4% 
10)4 6.850% 6.850% 1.500% 3 4.5% - 6.4% 

Municipal Pohce Employees' Retirement Svstein  

A. Changes of benefit terms — There were no changes of benefit terms. 

B. Changes of assumptions — 

Fiscal 
Year ended 

April 30, 
Discount 

Rate 

Investment 
Rate 

of Return 
Inflation 

Rate 

Expected 
Remaining 

Service Lives 

Projected 
Salary 

Increase 
2017 7.500% 7.500% 1  875% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 
2018 7.325°1, 7.315% ?,700% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 

2019 7.200% 7.200°.b 2 600% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 
10)0 7.115% 7.115% 1.500% 4 425% - 9.75% 
2021 6.950% 6.950% 2.500°.;, 4 4.70% - 12.30% 
1 011 6 750% 6.750% 2.500'16 4 4.70% - 12.30% 
2023 6.750% 6.750% 2.500% 4 4.70% - 12.30% 
2024 6.750% 6.750% 2 500% 4 4.70% - 12.30% 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Fireficthters' Retirement System 

A. Changes of benefit terms — There were no changes of benefit terms. 

B. Changes of assumptions — 

Fiscal Investment Expected Projected 

Year ended Discount Rate Inflation Remaining Salary 

April 30, Rate of Return Rate Service Lives Increase 
2017 7.500°.;, 7.5001!.$3 2.875% 7 4.75% - 15.0% 
2018 7.400% 7.400% 2 775% 7 4.75% - 15.0% 
2019 7.300% 7.300% 2.700% 7 4.75% - 15.0% 
2020 7.150% 7.150% 2.500°.;) 7 4.5% - 14.75% 
2021 7 000% 7.000% 2.500% 7 5.20% - 14.10% 

'012 6.900°.;. 6.900% /.500% 7 5.10% - 14.10% 

2023 6.900% 6.900% 2 500% 7 5.20% - 14.10% 
2024 6.900% 6.900% 2 500% 7 5.20% - 14.10% 

Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System  

A. Changes of henetit terms - There were no changes of benefit terms. 

B. Changes of assumptions - 

Fiscal Investment Expected Projected 

Year ended Discount Rate Inflation Remaining Salary 
April 30, Rate of Return Rate Service Lives Increase  

2017 7 7501 6 7.750% 3.000?•6 1 3.0"å - 5.5% 

2018 7.700°.;. 7.700% 2.750% 3 2.8% - 5.3% 

2019 7.650% 7.650% 2 750% " _, 2.8% - 5.3% 
2020 7.600% 7.600% 2 500% 7 2.8% - 5.3% 

2011 7.550% 7.550% 2.300% ' ._ 2.6% - 5.11!0 
1 0 7" 7 400% 7.400% 2.300% 2 2.6% - 5.1% 

2023 7.250% 7./50% 2.300°.;) ' ._ 2.6% - 5.1% 
2024 7.1.50°;. 7.250% 2.300% 1 _ 2.6% - 5.1% 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN. LOUISIANA 

Justice System Funding Schedule - Receiving Entity 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

 

First Six Month 
Period Ended 
10 .31.2023 

Second Six Month 
Period Ended 

4, 30:2024 

Receipts From: 

  

City Court of Franklin - Criminal Fines S48,999 557.011 
City C'ourt of Franklin - Criminal Fees - Other 1,080 900 

Total Receipts 50,1)79 S 57 911 

See independent auditor's report. 
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CITY OF FRANKLN, LOUISIANA 

Louisiana Community Development Block Grant Schedule 
Year Ended Apnl 30, 2024 

ASSETS 
Receivables: 

Due from other governments $ 2(10,983  

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Accounts payable 
Retainage payable 

Total liabilities 

$ 200,983 
61316 

264,299     

Fund balance: 
Unassigned (deficit) (63.316) 

Total liabilities and fund balance S 100,9S3 

Revenues: 
LCDBG program revenue $ 1.582.764 
City match 103,919 

Total revenues 1,686.683 

Expenditures: 
Administration 153 
Engineering 103.766 
Construction 1 .646A0 

Total expenditures 1.749,999 

Net change in fund balances 

Fund balances, beginning 

Fund balances. ending 

See independent auditor's report 

(63.316) 

S (63,316) 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN. LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awaids 
Year Ended April 30. 2024 

Federal Grantor Pass-Through Grantor! 

oin am Title 

Assistance Pass-thinughl 

Listing Entity Identifying Subrecipient 

Numhei Niunber Amount Expenditures 

U. S Department of Interim National Park Service 

Passed thiough Louisiana Office of the Lt. Governor 

Child Nutrition Cluster 

Summer Food Seivice Program for Children 10.559 SFSP 2023 

 

49,637 

U. S Department of Housing and Urban Development 

   

Passed through Louisiana Division of Administration 

   

Community Development Block GrantiState's Program 
anti Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.'_'2S B-20-DW-22-0001 

 

1.646,080 

U. S Department of Justice 

   

EdwarJ Byine Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 

   

Passed thiough Louisiana Commission on Law Enforcement 

Evangeline Law Enfoicement Council 16.738 2019-DJ-01-6185 

 

7,828 

U. S Department of Transportation 

   

Passed through Louisiana Department of Transportation and Detelopmeut 

    

LA-2020-007, 

  

Formula Grants for Rural Areas anJ Trihal Transit LA-2017-013 & 

  

Programs 20 509 LA-2019-011 12 7,619 122,629 

U S. Department of Health and Human Services 

   

Passed duough Lotusiana Housing Corporation 

Low-Income Household Water Assistance Program 93.499 

  

93.500 

Totals 

 

$ 122.629 $ 1.919.674 

See independent athluar:v report and tudra t•Itedule ty.tarldoure.s cd);Jerni rusards. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

(1) Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all 
federal tinancial assistance programs of the City. The City reporting entity is detined in Note 1 to the 
financial statements for the year ended Apnl 30, 2024. The information in this schedule is presented 
in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Unifirm 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles. and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniforin 
Guidance). Because the schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City. it is 
not intended to and does. not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash tlows of the 
City. The Community Development Block Grant from the U.S. Department Housing and Urban 
Development, passed through the Louisiana Division of Administration was considered to be a major 
federal program of the City. 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are reported on 
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost 
principles contained in thr Unifonn Guidance. wherein certain types of expenditures are not 
allowable or are limited to reimbursement. Pass-through identifying numbers are presented where 
available. The City did not incur any indirect costs associated with federal awards. The City has not 
elected to use the ten (10) percent de minimis indirect cost. 

(3) Subrecipients 

Of the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, 
the City provided federal awards to subrecipients as follows: 

Assistance Amount Provided to 
Listing Number Program Name Subrecipients 

/0.509 Formula Cirants for Rural Areas and Tribal 
Transit Program 111,6)9 

(4) L)onated PPE Purchased with Federal Assistance Funds for the (1.(1)VID-19 Response 

The City did not receive donated PPE purchased with federal assistance funds for COVID-
19 response. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Combmmg Balance Shret 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

April 30, 2024 

Special Revenue Debt Senicc 

Summer 
Feeding 

Program 
Fund 

Narcotic 
Aid 
Fund 

Equipment 
Lease 
Fund 

Total 
Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Funds 

ASSETS 
Cash S 8.431 'I> 12,153 S 34,402 54.986 

FUND BALANCES 
Restricted 8.431 S 12,153 S 34.402 S 54,980 

    

See independent auditor's reporl. 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Combining Statement of Revermes, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2024 

 

Special Revenue Deht Service 

Total 
Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Funds 

 

Summer 
Feeding 
Pro€ram 

Fund 

Narcotic 
Aid 
Fund 

Equipment 
Lease 
Fund 

Revenues: 

     

Intergovernmental $ 49.637 S 4.740 $ S 54.377 
Interest Income - 1 5 

 

7 
TI ital revenues 49,637 4.742 5 

 

54.31.4 
Expenditures: 

     

Public safety: 

     

Police - 4.968 

  

4,968 
Fi Hid Services 49,413 - 

  

49,413 
Debt Service - 

     

Principal - 

 

130,964 

 

130.964 
Interest and fiscal charges 

 

- 31,521 

 

31,521 
Capital outlay 2.5Q1 

   

2.59 l 
Total expenditures 51.004 4.968 U3'.4S5 

 

219.457 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (2.367) (226) (162,48(1) 

 

(165A)73) 

Other financing sources: 

     

Operating transfers in - 

 

1711.400 

 

170.400 

Net change in fund balances (2.367) (2261 7.920 

 

5.327 

Fund balances. beginning 10,798 12,379 26,482 

 

49.659 

Fund balances. ending $ 8,431  S 12.153 $ 34,402  S 54.986  

See indopondent andltur's report 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

The Honorable Eugene Foulcard, Mayor 
And the Honorable Members of the City Council 

City of Franklin, Louisiana 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Franklin 
(hereinafter "City"), as of and for the year ended April 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated 
October 29, 2024. Our report expressed an adverse opinion on the aggregate discretely presented component 
units because the financial statements of the City's primary government do not include financial data for the 
City's legally separate component units. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect 
and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the City's financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 
not identified. We identified deficiencies in internal controls, described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs as items 2024-001 and 2024-002 that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we perfbrmed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providine an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective 
of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards and 
which are descnhed in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2024-0(13, 2024-
004, 2024-005, 2024-006. and 2024-007. 

City's Response to Findings 

Government Auditing Stundurdy requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the City's 
response to the finding, identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. The City's response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the responses. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's 
internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control and compliance Accordingly, this 
communication is. not svitable for any other purpose. In accordance with Louisiana Revised Statute 24:513, 
this report is distrihuted by the Louisiana Legislative Auditor as a public document. 

Kolder, Sloven & Company, LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Morgan C'ity, Louisiana 
October 29, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

The Honorable Eugene Foulcard, Mayor 
And the Honorable Mernbers of the City Council 

City of Franklin, Louisiana 

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Franklin's (hereinafter, "City") cornpliance with the types of compliance 
requirernents identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on the City's major federal prograrn for the year ended April 30, 2024. The City's rnajor federal 
program is identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accornpanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the City complied, in all rnaterial respects, with the types of cornpliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its rnajor federal program for the year ended 
April 30, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government. Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Cornptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirernents of Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal. Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal. Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section 
of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the rnajor federal 
prograrn. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City's cornpliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above. 
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Respon.sibilities oplanagement for Compliance 

Management is responsible for comphance with the requirements referred to above and fbr the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 
statutes. regulations, inles, and the provisions of contracts or grant ageements applicahle to the City's federal 
programs 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to ohtain reasonahle assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on 
the City's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a hiLth level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will ahvays detect material 
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncomphance resulting from fraud is higher 
than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the ovemde of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 
it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance ahout the City's 
compliance with the requirements of the major federal prograrn as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the nsks of material noncompliance. whether due to fraud or error, and design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include exainining, on a test basis, 
e‘idence regarding the City's compliance with the compliance requirements refen-ed to abo‘e and 
performine such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of the City's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal 
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees. in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program on a timely hasis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency. or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented. or 
detected and corrected, on a timely hasis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal proram that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section ahoi, e and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control er cornpliance that nught be matenal weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over comphance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined 
above. However, material weaknesses or signiticant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may 
exist that were not identitied. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control m er cornpliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testinit of internal control over compliance and the results of that testine based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. In accordance with 
Limisiana Revised Statute 24:513, this report is distributed by the Louisiana Legislative Auditor as a public 
document. 

Kolder. Slaven & Company, LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Morgan City, Louisiana 
October 29, 2024 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

 

Part I. Summary of Audit Examination Results 
  

Ftnancial Statements 

I Type of auditor's report issued on the financial statements: 

Type of 

Opinion  Opmion Unit      
Governmental Activities Unm 

Business-type Acthities Unrm idified 
Major Funds: 

General Unmodified 
Liquid and Sohd Waste Unmodi fled 

Capital Outlay Unmodified 
Water Unmodi tied 

Aggregate remaining fiind informanon Urunodified 

Aggregate discretely presented component units Adverse 

• Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness(es) identified 
Sigruficant deficiency(ies) identitied 

3 Noncompliance material to the financial statements? 

Federal Awatzls 

4 Internal control over the specified requirements 

Material weakness(es) identified? 
Sigruficant deficiency(ies) identitied? 

5 Program and type of opinion issued: 

✓ ves 
ves ✓ none reported 

✓ yes no 

ves 
ves ✓ nt ine reported 

Assistance 
Listing 
Number  Name of Program 

Type of 
Opinion 

Community Development Block Grant:States Program and Non-

 

14.228 Entitlement Grants in Hawaii Unintidified 

6 Audit findings required tn be reported in accordance 

with 2 CFR 200.516(a) ves ✓ no 

7 Threshold for distinguishing type A and B programs? 

  

$ 750,000 

8 Qualified as a low-risk auditee' ves ‘,/ 

 

Other 

ves 

  

0 Muta€ement letter issued? 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Part II. Findinr2s reported in accordance with Government Auditing Standorcb• 

A. Internal Control-

 

2024-001 — Financial Statement Adjustments 

Year Initially Occurring: 2023 

CONDITION: Misstatements in the financial statements were not prevented, nor detected and 
corrected. by the City's intemal control resulting in proposed audit adjustments material to the 
financial statements. 

CRITERIA: Internal control is a process — effected by those charged with governance, management, 
and other personnel — designed to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement of objectives 
with regard to reliability of financial reponing, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The City's internal control over financial reporting 
uicludes those policies and procedures that pertain to the City's ability to record. process. summarize. 
and report financial data consistent with the assertions embodied in financial statements. Such internal 
controls allow management to prevent or detect and coned misstatements on a timely basis. 

CAUSE: The condition results from the failure to design and implement or follow implemented 
policies and procedures which provide assurance that the financial statements are not misstated. 

EFFECT. Audit adjustments were necessary to correct misstatements in the financial statements. 

R.ECOMMENDATION: We recommend the City design and implement policies and procedures 
or follow implemented policies and procedures which provide assurance to the fair presentation 
of the financial statements. 

2024-002 - Accounts Payable and Vendor Payments 

Year Initially Occurnng: 2024 

CONDITION. At April 30. 2024, the City hold.s accounts payable halances of approximately 
$215,000 that are outstanding between 61 and 90 days, and ahout $239M00 that have been 
outstanding for more than 90 days. 

CRITERIA: Internal control is a process - effected by those charged with governance. management. 
and other personnel - designed to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement of objectives 
with regard to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The City's mternal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the City's ability to record, process, summarize, 
and report fmancial data consistent with the assertions embodied in fmancial statements. Such internal 
controls allow management to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. 

CAUSE. The condition results from cash flow shortalls and the failure to process accounts payable 
in accordance with policies and procedures. 

91 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

EFFECT: Not paying vendors timely can result in fewer vendors that choose to conduct business 
with the City and bid on City projects. potentially affecting the quahty. timehness, and price of 
goods and services Noncompliance with contracts and grant agreements may occur. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that the City implement policies and procedures to 
ensure timely processing of accounts payable. 

B. Comphance-

 

2024-003 - Local Government Budget Act: Unfavorable Variances 

Year Initially Occumng: 2013 

CONDITION: Total revenues failed to meet hudgeted amounts in excess of 5% in the General 
Fund and total expenditures exceed budgeted appropriations in excess of 5% in the Narcotic Aid 
Fund. 

CRITERIA: LSA-RS 39.1311 et seq, Budget Authority and Control, section A. (2) and B, 
pro‘ ide for the following. respectively: 

"A. The adopted budget and any duly authorized adopted amendments shall 
form the framework from which the chief executive or administrative officers 
and menibers of the governing authority of the political suhdivision shall 
monitor revenues and control expenditures. The chief executive or 
administrative ofticer for a political subdivision subject to public participation 
shall advise the governing authority or independently elected official in wnting 
when: 

(1) Tutal re‘enue and other sources plus projected revenue and other 
sources for the remainder of the year, within a fund, are failing to 
meet total budgeted revenues and other sources by five percent or 
more. 

(2) Total actual expenditures and other sources plus projected 
expenditures and other sources for the remainder of the year, within 
a fund. are exceeding the total budgeted expenditures and other 
sources by tive percent or more. 

B. The written notification as required by this Section as wdl as any responsive 
action taken by the governing authority or independently elected official shall 
be transmitted to and retained by the chief executive or administratne officer. 
The written notitication as required hy this Section and the resulting budget 
amendment shall only be statutorilv required for a special revenue fund with 
anticipated expenditures that equal or exceed five hundred thousand dollars. 
Furthermore, only the written notitication of Paragraph ( A)( 2) of this Section 
shall be required for special revenue ftmds whose revenues are expenditure 
driven." 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

CAUSE.  The condition results from failure to adopt budgetary amendments. 

EFFECT: They City may he noncompliant with certain provisions of the Local Government 
Budget Act. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that the City closely monitor activity adopting budgetary 
amendments when necessary to ensure comphance with the Local Govenunent Budget Act. 

1024-004 — Local Government Budget Act: Budget Preparation 

Year Initially Occurring: 2024 

CONDITION: The City failed to { I) prepare the budget in the format required, (2) make the proposed 
hudget available to the public for inspection, (3) afford for public participation, and (4) certifv 
completion of budgetary process by means of a public notice. 

CRITERIA: LA R S 39:1305 - Budget Preparation states the budget document shall include (a) a 
hudget message, (b) a statement for the general and each special revenue fund showing estimated 
fund balances at the beginning of the year: estimates of all receipts and revenues to be received 
(revenues itemized by source); recommended expenditures itemized by agency, department, fimetion, 
and character; other tinancing sources and uses by source and use; and the estimated fund halance at 
the end of the fiscal year. The statute also specifies the format of the prepared statement. The budget 
document shall also be accompanied by an adoption instrument which shall detine the authority for 
changes without the approval of the governing authonty (RS 39.13(►5(D)). Total proposed 
expenditures shall not exceed the total of estimated funds availahle (RS 39:1305(E)). 

R.S. 39:1308( A)( 1) - Inspection of the proposed budget states "The proposed budget of a political 
subdivision shall be available for public inspection at the office of the mayor or municipal goveming 
authority. Public participation is required by RS 39:1307( A) if proposed expenditures exceed 
$500.000 from the general fund and any special revenue funds in a fiscal year or other similar 
budgetary period. 

R.S. 39:1306 — Completion and submission of the proposed budget — states (A) requires that the 
proposed hudget he made available tbr puhlic inspection no later than 15 days prior to the beginning 
of the fiscal year for which the budget is to he applicable and that at least one public hearing on the 
hudget be conducted before a proposed budget is considered for adoption (RS 39: I 307(C)). RS 
39.1307(B) requires notice of the public hearing to be published least 10 days prior to the first public 
hearing and may he published in the same advertisement as the availahility of the proposed budget. 

C'AUSE. The condition results from the failure to design and implement or follow implemented 
policies and procedures to ensure compliance with the Local Gm ernment Budget Act. 

EFFECT: They City may be noncompliant with certain provisions of the Local Government 
Budget Act. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend the City design and implement policies and procedures or 
follow implemented policies and procedures to ensure compliance with the Local Goc ernment 
Budget Act. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

1024-005 — Project Fund Requirements 

Year Initially Occut 2024 

CONDITION. Debt proceeds were used fig purposes other than those established by debt covenants. 

CRITERIA: The S580,000 Certificate of Indebtedness. Series 2023 states "From the amounts 
received upon sale of the Certiticate, all principal proceeds shall be deposited into a fund separate 
from the general funds of the Cioverning Authority, narnely, the "City of Franklin Fire Tower Project 
Fune (the "Project Fund- ) herehy created to be held hy the regularly designated fiscal agent or 
depository bank of the Issuer. Disbursements shall be made from the Project Fund solely for the 
purpose of financing a new firr training facihty and paying the costs of issuance of the Certificate.-

 

CAUSE. The condition results ftom cash flow shortfalls and interfund transfers to co% er accounts 
payahle and payroll-related costs. 

EFFECT. The City may be noncompliant with certain provisions of the 5580,000 Certificate of 
Indebtedness, Series 2023 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend the City implement policies and procedures to ensure 
restricted resources are used for their intended purposes. 

2024-006 — Publication of Written Minutes 

Year Initially Occurnng: 2024 

CONDITION: The City failed to make timely publication of minutes of its public meetings. 

CRITERIA: LA R.S. 42:11-28 et seq.. "the Open Meetings Law". regulates meetings of public 
bodies. It is designed to ensure that decisions hy puhlic bodies are made in an open forum and that 
all interested persons be provided the right to (Ibsen e deliberations of public bodies, except in cases 
established by law. 

R.S. 42:20 notes that the minutes shall be public records and shall be available within a reasonable 
time after the meetine. For municipal corporations, parish governments, and school boards. R.S. 
43:144 requires that minutes be submitted to the official journal within twenty days after the meeting. 

CAUSE. The condition results from the City's failure to furnish the minutes to its official journal in 
a timely manner. 

EFFECT: The City may be noncompliant the Open Meetings Law. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend the City prepare written minutes for all public meetings 
held and ensure that the minutes are furnished to the official journal for publication within twenty 
days of the meeting. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2024 

1 024-007 — 11 5c!'n Operatin Requirement 

Year Initially Declining: 1023 

CONDITION: Operating requirement established by debt convents not met. 

CRITERL4: S1.800.000 Water Revenue Bonds, Senes 2021 states ''The issuer covenants to fix, 
establish, maintain and collect such rates, fees, rents or other charges for the services and facilities of 
the System and to revise the same whenever necessary as will always provide revenues in each year 
sufficient to pav the reasonable and necessary expenses of operating and maintaining the System in 
each year, the principal and interest talling due on the bonds in each year, all sinking fiinds, 
contingency or other payments required and which will pro‘ide such re‘enues in each year, afier 
paying all reasonable and necessary expenses of operating and maintaining the System in such year, 
at least equal to 115"/o of the largest amount of principal and interest falling due on the bonds in any 
future tiscal year." 

CAUSE: The condition results from the failure increase rates to comply with bond issuance 
requirements 

EFFECT. The City may be noncompliant with certain provisions of the S1,800,000 Water 
Revenue Bonds. Series 2021. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that the City evaluate operating costs and increase rates 
if necessary to ensure compliance with hond requirements. 

Part III. Findings and questioned costs reported in accordance with Uniform Guidance: 

None 
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SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

APPENDIX A 



 

(City of 'Tankful 

P.O. Box 567 • 300 Iberia Street, 
Franklin, La 70538 Eugene P. 

Foulcard 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 
For the Year Ended April 30, 2024 

Findings reported in accordance with Government Auditing Standards: 

A. Internal Control — 

2023-001 — Financial Statement Adjustments 

CONDITION: Misstatements in the financial statements were not prevented, nor detected 
and corrected, by the City's internal control resulting in proposed audit adjustments material 
to the fmancial statements. 

CURRENT STATUS: This condition is unresolved. 

B. Compliance — 

2023-002 - Local Government Budget Act 

CONDITION: Budget variances of revenues in excess of 5% was incurred in the Liquid 
and Solid Waste Fund. 

CURRENT STATUS: This condition is unresolved. 

2023-003 - 115% Operating Requirement 

CONDITION: Operating requirement established by debt convents not met. 

CURRENT STATUS: This condition is unresolved. 

2023-004 — Capital Additions and Contingency Fund Requirement 

CONDITION: Restricted assets maintained for capital additions and contingencies were 
used for purposes other than those established by debt covenants. 

CURRENT STATUS: This condition has been resolved. 

Findings and questioned costs reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance: 

None 



CORRECTIVE ACTION PIAN FOR CLRRENT AUDIT FINDINGS 

APPENDIX B 



 

(City of franktin 
Koni5iana 

P.O. Box 567 • 300 Iberia Street, Franklin, La 70538 
Phone: (337) 828-6350 • Fax: (337) 828-6359 

Eugene P. Foulcard 
Mayor 

Octobei• 29, 2024 

Kolder, Slaven & Company, LLC 
1201 David Drive 
Morgan City, LA 70380 

The following is in response to the finding resulting from the City of Franklin audit for the fiscal year ended 
April 30, 2024: 

2024-001-Financial Statement Adjustments  

CONDITION: Misstatements in the financial statements were not prevented, nor detected and corrected by the 
City's internal control resulting in proposed audit adjustments material to the financial statements. 

Management's Response 

Corrective Action Plan: Internal control procedures will be modified to provide for monitoring and reviewing 
all entries into the accounting system on a day-to-day basis to avoid errors in recording. 

Name of person responsible for corrective action: Edward Hay, Director of Finance 

Anticipated completion date for the corrective action: 4/30/2025 

2024-002 Accounts Payabie and Vendor Payments  

CONDITION: At April 30, 2024, the City holds accounts payable balances of approximately $215,000 that are 
outstanding between 61 and 90 days, and about $239,000 that have been outstanding for more than 90 days. 

Management's Response 

Corrective Action Plan: The City will implement policies and procedures to ensure timely processing of 
accounts payable. 

Name of person responsible for corrective action: Edward Hay, Director of l'inance 

Anticipated completion date for the corrective action: 4/30/2025 



2024-003  — Local Government Budget Act: Unfavorable Variances  

CONDITION: Total revenues failed to meet budgeted amounts in excess of 5% in the General Fund and total 
expenditures exceed budgeted appropriations in excess of 5% in the Narcotic Aid Fund. 

Management's Response 

Corrective Action Plan: The City will beef up its monitoring of revenues and expenditures and ensure 
compliance with budget requirements. 

Name of person responsible for corrective action: Edward Hay, Director of Finance 

Anticipated completion date for the corrective action: 4/30/2025 

2024-004 — Local Government Buket Act: Budget Preparation 

CONDITION: The City failed to (1) prepare the budget in the format required, (2) make the proposed budget 
available to the public for inspection, (3) afford for public participation, (4) certify completion of budgetary process by 
means of a public notice. 

Management's Response 

Corrective Action Plan: The City will put procedures in place to ensure compliance with state statutes. 

Name of person responsible for corrective action: Edward Hay, Director of Finance 

Anticipated completion date for the corrective action: 4/30/2025 

2024-005 — Project Fund Requirements  

CONDITION: Debt proceeds were used for purposes other than those established by debt covenants. 

Management's Response 

Corrective Actidn Plan: City will closely monitor expenditures and ensure cornpliance with policies and 
procedures that restrict use of those funds. 

Name of person responsible for corrective action: Edward Hay, Director of Finance 

Anticipated completion date for the corrective action: 4/30/2025 



2024-006 - Publication of Written Minutes  

CONDITION: The City failed to timely publish in its official journal minutes of its public meetings. 

Management's Response 

Corrective Action Plan: The City will put procedures in place to ensure compliance with state statutes. 

Name of person responsible for corrective action: Edward Hay, Director of Finance 

Anticipated completion date for the corrective action: 4/30/2025 

2024-007 - 1 15% Operating Requirement 

CONDITION: Operating, requirement estahlished by debt covenants not met. 

Management's Response 

Corrective Action Plan: The City has performed rate study and the council has approved rate increase. 

Name of person responsible for corrective action: Edward Hay, Director of Finance 

Anticipated completion date for the corrective action: 4/30/2025 

Sincerely, 

Edward W. Hay, Director of Finance 
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MANAGEMENT LETTER 

The Honorable Eugene Foulcard, Mayor 
City of Franklin 
Franklin, Louisiana 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the City of Franklin, Louisiana 
(hereinafter "City"), in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
we considered the City's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our 
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control or on its compliance with provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control or on compliance. 

During our audit we became aware of matters involving internal control or compliance that are 
summarized below for your consideration. Communication of the matters presents an opportunity for 
strengthening the City's internal control or improving its compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, or grant 
agreements or other matters. Our opinions dated October 28, 2024 on the City's financial statements are not 
affected by this matter. Our comments are not intended to reflect upon the ability or integrity of the City's 
personnel. 

2024-ML-1 Written Policies and Procedures Related to Federal Awards  
The requirements of 2 CFR 200, Subpart D — Post Federal Award Requirements and Subpart E — Cost 
Principes of the Uniform Guidance include specific written policies and procedures. The City's written 
policies and procedures do not meet all requirements. 

We recommend that the City adopt written policies and procedures as required by the Uniform 
Guidance. 

2024-ML-2 Physical Inventory of Pr•operty 
The requirements of 2 CFR 200.313 — Equipment, include that a physical inventory of property must 
be taken and the results reconciled with the property records at least once every two years. 

We recommend that the City design and implement policies and procedures to ensure compliance with 
applicable r•equirements. 

Member of: 1 Member of: 
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City of Franklin 
Management Letter 

Our audit procedures are designed primarily to enable us to form an opinion on the financial statements 
and therefore rnay not identify all weaknesses in policies and procedures or incidents of noncompliance that 
inay exist We aim. however, to use our knowledge of the City's operations gained during our work to make 
comments and suggestions that we hope will be usefid to you. 

We will review the status of this comment during our next audit engagement. We have already 
discussed the comments and suggestions with various City personnel, and we will he pleased to discuss them 
in further detail at your convenience 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the City's management and the 
Louisiana Legislative Auditor and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

We would like to express our appreciation to you for the courtesies and assistance rendered to us in 
the performance of our audit Should you have any questions or need additional assistance, please feel free to 
contact us. 

RespectfUlly. 

KOLDER, SLAIEN COMPANY. LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Morgan City, Louisiana 
Octoher 29. 2024 



 

(CEO of franktin 
loui5jana 

P.O. Box 567 • 300 Iberia Street, Franklin, La 70538 
Phone: (337) 828-6350 • Fax: (337) 828-6359 

Eugene P. Foulcard 
Mayor 

October 29, 2024 

Kolder, Slaven & Company, LLC 
1201 David Drive 
Morgan City, LA 70380 

The following is in response to the management letter from the City's audit for the fiscal year 
ended April 30, 2024: 

2024-ML-1 Written Policies and Procedures Related to Federal Awards 

The requirements of 2 CFR 200, Subpart D — Post Federal Award Requirements and Subpart E — Cost 
Principes of the Uniform Guidance include specific written policies and procedures. The City's written 
policies and procedures do not meet all requirements. 

Management's Response 

The City has subsequently modified its procedures to meet the requirements. 

2024-ML-2 Physical Inventory of Property 

The requirements of 2 CFR 200.313 — Equipment, include that a physical inventory of property must be 
taken and the results reconciled with the property records at least once every two years. 

Management's Response 

An inventory of federally funded equipment and facilities will be done as needed. 

Sincerely, 

""--"—L' -1-4v* (4,--(1_0.- v:_.... ),- ----Q 
Eugene P. Foulcard 
Mayor 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON 
PROCEDURES TO CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE AREAS IDENTIFIED BY THE 

LOUISIANA LEGISLATIVE AUDITOR 

The Honorable Eugene Foulcard, Mayor, 
Honorable Members of the City Council, and 

Louisiana Legislative Auditor 

We have performed the procedures enumerated below on the control and compliance areas identified 
in the Louisiana Legislative Auditor's (LLA's) Statewide Agreed-Upon Procedures (SAUPs) for the fiscal 
period May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024. The management of the City of Franklin (hereinafter "City") is 
responsible for those control and compliance areas identified in the SAUPs. 

An agreed-upon procedures engagement involves the performing of specific procedures that the City 
has agreed to and acknowledged to be appropriate on those control and compliance areas identified in the 
LLA's SAUPs for the fiscal period May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024 and report on exceptions based upon 
the procedures performed. Additionally, the LLA has agreed to and acknowledged that the procedures 
performed are appropriate for its purposes. However, this report may not be suitable for any other purpose. The 
procedures performed may not address all the items of interest to a user of this report and may not meet the 
needs of all users of this report and, as such, users are responsible for determining whether the procedures 
performed are appropriate for their purposes. 

The procedures and associated exceptions, if any, are as follows: 

1) Written Policies and Procedures 

A. Obtain and inspect the entity's written policies and procedures and observe whether they address each 
of the following categories and subcategories if applicable to public funds and the entity's operations: 

i. Budgeting, including preparing, adopting, monitoring, and amending the budget. 

ii. Purchasing, including (1) how purchases are initiated, (2) how vendors are added to the vendor 
list, (3) the preparation and approval process of purchase requisitions and purchase orders, (4) 
controls to ensure compliance with the Public Bid Law, and (5) documentation required to be 
maintained for all bids and price quotes. 

iii. Disbursements, including processing, reviewing, and approving. 

Member of: Member of: 
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF SOCIETY OF LOUISIANA 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 



City of FranMin 
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iv. Receipts/Collections, including receiving, recording, and preparing deposits Also, policies and 
procedures should include management's actions to determine the completeness of all collections 
for each type of revenue or agency fund additions (e.g , periodic contirmation with outside 
parties. reconciliation to utility billing after cutoff procedures, reconciliation of traffic ticket 
number sequences, agency ftmd forfeiture monies confirmation). 

v. PayrolhPersonnel, including (1) payroll processing, (2) reviewing and approving time and 
attendance record.s. including leave and overtime worked, and (3) approval process for employee 
rates of pay or approval and maintenance of pay rate schedules. 

vi. Contracting, including (1) types of services requiring written contracts, (2) standard terms and 
conditions, (3) legal review, (4) approval process, and (5) monitoring process. 

vii. Travel and Expense Reimbursement, including (1) allowable expenses, (2) dollar threshold.s by 
category of expense, (3) documentation requirements, and (4) required approvers. 

viii. Credit Cards (and debit cards, fuel cards, purchase cards, if applicable), including (1) how 
cards are to he controlled. (2) allowable business uses, (3) documentation requirements, (4) 
required approvers of statements, and (5) monitoring card usage (e.g., determining the 
reasonahleness of fuel card purchases). 

ix. Ethics, including (1) the prohibitions as defined in Louisiana Revised Statute (R.S.) 42:1111-
1121. (2) actions to he taken if an ethics t iolation takes place, (3) system to monitor possible 
ethics violations, and (4) a requirement that documentation is maintained to demonstrate that all 
employees and officials were notified of any changes to the entity's ethics policy. 

x. Debt Service, including (1) debt issuance approval. (2) continuing disclosure; EMMA reporting 
requirements, (3) deht reserve requirements, and (4) debt service requirements 

xi. Infiirmation Technologr Disaster Recovely/Business Continuity. including ( I ) identification of 
critical data and frequency of data backups, (2) storage of backups in a separate physical location 
isolated from the network, (3) periodic testing 'verification that backups can be restored, (4) use of 
antitinis software on all systems. (5) timely application of all available system and software 
patches!updates, and (6) identification of personnel, processes, and tools needed to recover 
operations after a critical event. 

Prevention of Sexual Harassment, including R.S. 42:342-344 requirements for (1) agency 
responsibilities and prohibitions, (2) annual employee training, and (3) annual reporting. 

2) Board or Finance Committee 

A. Obtain and inspect the board finance committee nnnutes for the tiscal period, as well as the board's 
enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or equivalent document in effect during the fiscal period, and 

i. Observe that the hoard:finance committee met with a quorum at least monthly, or on a frequency 
in accordance with the board's enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or other equivalent 
document. 

ii. For those entities reporting on the governmental accounting model. observe whether the minutes 
referenced or included monthly budget-to-actual comparisons on the general fund, quarterly 
budget-to-actual, at a minimum, on proprietary funds, and semi-annual budget- to-actual, at a 
minimum, on all special revenue fund.s. 

For governmental entities, obtain the prior year audit report and observe the unassigned fund 
balance in the general fund. If the general fund had a negative ending unassigned fund balance in 
the pnor year audit report, observe that the minutes for at least one meeting during the fiscal 
period referenced or included a formal plan to eliminate the negative unassigned fund balance in 
the general timd. 
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iv. Observe whether the board finance committee received written updates of the progress of 
resolving audit finding(s), according to management's corrective action plan at each meeting until 
the findings are considered fully resolved. 

3) Bank ReconciliationA 

A. Obtain a listing of entity bank accounts for the fiscal period from management and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. Ask management to identify the entity's main operating 
account. Select the entity's main operating account and randomly select 4 additional accounts (or all 
accounts if less than 5). Randomly select one month from the fiscal period, ohtain and inspect the 
corresponding bank statement and reconciliation for each selected account, and observe that: 

i. Bank reconciliations include evidence that they were prepared within 2 months of the related 
statement closing date (e.g., initialed and dated or electronically logged); 

ii. Bank reconciliations include written evidence that a member of management or a board inember 
who does not handle cash, post ledgers, or issue checks has reviewed each hank reconciliation 
within 1 month of the date the reconciliation was prepared (e.g., initialed and dated, electronically 
logged): and 

iii. Management has documentation reflecting it has researched reconciling items that have been 
outstanding for more than 12 months from the statement closing date. if applicable. 

4) Collections (excluding electronic funds transfrrs) 

A. Obtain a listing of deposit sites for the fiscal period where deposits thr cash:checks:money orders 
(cash) are prepared and management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 
deposit sites (or all deposit sites if less than 5). 

B. For each deposit site selected, obtain a listing of collection locations and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select one collection location for each deposit 
site (e.g , 5 collection locations for 5 deposit sites), obtain and inspect written policies and procedures 
relating to employee job duties (if there are no written policies or procedures, then inquire of 
employees about their job duties) at each collection location. and obsen'e that joh duties are properly 
sep-egated at each collection location such that: 

i. Employees responsible for cash collections do not share cash drawersiregisters: 

ii. Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not also responsihle for preparing:making bank 
deposits, unless another employee .otTicial is responsible thr reconciling collection docuinentation 
(e.g., pre-numbered receipts) to the deposit; 

Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not also responsible for posting collection 
entries to the general ledger or subsidiary ledgers, unless another employee;otlicial is responsible 
for reconciling ledger postings to each other and to the deposit; and 

iv. The employee(s) responsible for reconciling cash collections to the general ledger and or 
subsidiary ledgers, hy revenue source and. or agency fund additions, is (are) not also responsible 
for collecting cash, unless another employee:official verities the reconciliation. 

C. Obtain from management a copy of the bond or insurance policy for theft covering all employees who 
have access to cash Observe that the bond or insurance policy for theft was in force during the fiscal 
period. 

D. Randomly select two deposit dates for each of the 5 hank accounts selected for Bank Reconciliations 
procedure 3A (select the next deposit date chronologically if no deposits were made on the dates 
randomlv selected and randomly select a deposit if multiple deposits are made on the same day). 
Obtain supporting documentation tbr each of the 10 deposits and: 
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i. Observe that receipts are sequentially pre-numbered. 

11. Trace sequentially pre-numbered receipts, system reports, and other related collection 
documentation to the deposit slip. 

111. Trace the deposit slip total to the actual deposit per the bank statement. 

iv. Observe that the deposit was made within one business day of receipt at the collection location 
(within one week if the depository is more than 10 miles from the collection location or the 
deposit is less than $100 and the cash is stored securely in a locked safe or drawer). 

v. Trace the actual deposit per the bank statement to the general ledger. 

5) Non-Payroll Disbursements (excluding card purchases, travel reimbursements, and petty cash purchases)  

A. Obtain a listing of locations that process payments for the fiscal period and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 locations (or all locations if less than 5). 

B. For each location selected under procedure #5A above, obtain a listing of those employees involved 
with non-payroll purchasing and payment functions. Obtain written policies and procedures relating 
to employee job duties (if the agency has no written policies and procedures, then inquire of 
employees about their job duties), and observe that job duties are properly segregated such that: 

i. At least two employees are involved in initiating a purchase request, approving a purchase, and 
placing an order or making the purchase; 

ii. At least two employees are involved in processing and approving payments to vendors; 

iii. The employee responsible for processing payments is prohibited from adding/modifying vendor 
files, unless another employee is responsible for periodically reviewing changes to vendor files; 

iv. Either the employee/official responsible for signing checks mails the payment or gives the signed 
checks to an employee to mail who is not responsible for processing payments; and 

v. Only employees/officials authorized to sign checks approve the electronic disbursement (release) 
of funds, whether through automated clearinghouse (ACH), electronic funds transfer (EFT), wire 
transfer, or some other electronic means. 

C. For each location selected under procedure #5A above, obtain the entity's non-payroll disbursement 
transaction population (excluding cards and travel reimbursements) and obtain management's 
representation that the population is complete. Randomly select 5 disbursements for each location, 
obtain supporting documentation for each transaction, and 

i. Observe whether the disbursement, whether by paper or electronic means, matched the related 
original itemized invoice and supporting documentation indicates that deliverables included on 
the invoice were received by the entity, and 

ii. Observe whether the disbursement documentation included evidence (e.g., initial/date, electronic 
logging) of segregation of duties tested under procedure #5B above, as applicable. 

D. Using the entity's main operating account and the month selected in Bank Reconciliations procedure 
#3A, randomly select 5 non-payroll-related electronic disbursements (or all electronic disbursements 
if less than 5) and observe that each electronic disbursement was (a) approved by only those persons 
authorized to disburse funds (e.g., sign checks) per the entity's policy, and (b) approved by the 
required number of authorized signers per the entity's policy. Note: If no electronic payments were 
made from the main operating account during the month selected the practitioner should select an 
alternative month and/or account for testing that does include electronic disbursements. 
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6) Credit Cards/Debit Cards/Fuel Cards;Purchase Cards 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all active credit cards, bank debit cards, fuel cards, and purchase 
cards (cards) for the fiscal penod, including the card numbers and the names of the persons who 
maintained possession of the cards. Obtain management's representation that the listing is complete. 

B. Using the listing prepared by management, randomly select 5 cards (or all cards if less than 5) that 
were used during the fiscal period. Randomly select one monthly statement or combined statement kw 
each card ( for a dehit card, randomly select one monthly hank statement). Obtain supporting 
documentation. and 

i. Observe whether there is evidence that the monthly statement or combined statement and 
supporting documentation (e.g., original receipts for credirdebit card purchases, exception reports 
for excessive fuel card usage) were reviewed and approved, in writing (or electronically 
approved) by sotneone other than the authorized card holder (those instances requiring such 
approval that may constrain the legal authority of certain public officials, such as the mayor of a 
Lawrason Act municipality, should not be reported); and 

ii. Observe that finance charges and late fees were not assessed on the selected statements. 

C. Using the monthly statements or combined statements selected under procedure g6B above, excludintt 
fuel cards, randomly select 10 transactions (or all transactions if less than 10) from each statement, 
and obtain supporting documentation for thr transactions (e.g., each card should have 10 transactions 
subject to inspection). For each transaction, observe that it is supported by (1) an original itemized 
receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased, (2) written documentation of the bust'.  less-public 
purpose, and (3) documentation of the individuals participating in meals (for meal charges only). For 
missing receipts. the practitioner should describe the nature of the transaction and ohserve whether 
management had a compensating control to address missing receipts, such as a - missing receipt 
statement-  that is subject to increased scrutiny. 

7) Travel and Travel-Related Evense Reiarbunentent% (excluding card transactions) 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all travel and travel-related expense reimbursements during the 
fiscal period and management's representation that the listing or general ledger is complete. 
Randomly select 5 reimbursements and obtain the related expense reimbursement forms/prepaid 
expense documentation of each selected reimbursement, as well as the supporting documentation. For 
each of the 5 reimbursements selected 

i. If reimbursed using a per diem, observe that the approved reimbursement rate is no more than 
those rates established either by the State of Louisiana or the U.S. General Services 
Adtninistration ( www.gsa.gov): 

ii. If reimhursed using actual costs, observe that the reimbursement is supported hy an original 
itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased; 

Observe that each reimbursement is supported hy documentation of the businessipublic purpose 
(for meal charges, observe that the documentation includes the names of those individuals 
participating) and other documentation required by Written Policies and Procedures procedure 
#1A(vii); and 

iv. Observe that each reimbursement was reviewed and approved_ in writing, by someone other than 
the person receiving reimbursement. 
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8) Contracts 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all agreements:contracts for professional services, materials and 
supplies, leases, and constmction activities that were initiated or renewed during the fiscal period. 
Ohtain management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 contracts (or all 
contracts if less than 5) from the listing. excluding the practitioner's contract. and 

i. Observe whether the contract was bid in accordance with the Louisiana Public Bid Law (e.g., 
solicited quotes or bids, advertised), if required by law; 

ii. Observe whether the contract was approved by the governing body board. if required by policy or 
law (e.g., Lawrason Act. Home Rule Charter); 

If the contract was amended (e.g., change order), observe that the original contract teims provided 
for such an amendment and that amendments were made in compliance with the contract terms 
(e.g., if approval is required for any amendment. the documented approval); and 

iv. Randomly select one payment £rom the fiscal period for each of the 5 contracts, obtain the 
supporting invoice, agree the invoice to the contract terms, and observe that the invoice and 
related payment ap-eed to the terms and conditions of the contract. 

9) Payroll and Personnel 

A. Obtain a listing of employees and officials employed during the fiscal period and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 employees or officials. obtain related 
paid salaries and personnel files, and agree paid salaries to authorized salaries.pay rates in the 
personnel files. 

B. Randomly select one pay period during the fiscal period. For the 5 employees or officials selected 
under procedure #9A above, ohtain attendance records and leave documentation for the pay period, 
and 

i. Observe that all selected employees or officials documented their daily attendance and lane (e.g., 
vacation, sick, compensatory); 

ii. Observe whether supervisors approved the attendance and leave of the selected employees or 
officials; 

Observe that any leave accrued or token during the pay period is reflected in the entity's 
cumulative leave records; and 

iv. Ohserve the rate paid to the employees or officials agrees to the authorized salary:pay rate found 
within thr personnel file. 

C. Obtain a listing of those employees or officials that received termination payments (luring the fiscal 
period and management's representation that the list is complete. Randomly select two employees or 
officials and obtain related documentation of the hours and pay rates used in management's 
tennination payment calculations and the entity's policy on termination payments. Ap-ee the hours to 
the employee's or official's cumulative leave records, agree the pay rates to the employee's or 
official's authonzed pay rates in the employee's or official's personnel files, and ap-ee the 
termination payment to entity policy. 

D. Obtain manaeement's representation that employer and employee portiom of third-party payroll 
related amounts (e.g., payroll taxes, retirement contrihutions. health insurance premiums, 
garnishments. workers' compensation premiums, etc.) have been paid, and any associated forms have 
been tiled, by required deadlines. 
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10) Ethics 

A. Using the 5 randomly selected employeesiofficials from Payroll and Personnel procedure OA ohtain 
ethics documentation from management, and 

i. Observe whether the documentation demonstrates that each employeeofficial completed one 
hour of ethics training during the calendar year as required by R.S. 42:1170: and 

ii. Observe whether the entity maintains documentation which demonstrates that each employee and 
official were notified of any changes to the entity's ethics policy during the fiscal period, as 
applicahle 

Inquire and. or observe whether the agency has appointed an ethics desienee as required by R S. 
4.2:1170. 

I I) Debt Service 

A. C)htain a listing of bonds notes and other deht instruments issued during the fiscal period and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Select all debt instruments on the listing, 
obtain supporting documentation, and observe that State Bond Commission approval was obtained 
for each debt mstniment issued as required by Article VW Section 8 of the Louisiana Constitution. 

B. Obtain a listing of bonds:notes outstanding at the end of the fiscal period and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select one bondinote. inspect debt covenants, 
ohtain supporting dorumentation for the reserve balance and payments. and agree actual reserve 
balances and payments to those required by debt covenants ( including contingency funds, short-lived 
asset fiinds, or other funds required by the debt covenants). 

12) Fraud Notice 

A. Obtain a listing of misappropriations of public fund.s and assets during the fiscal period and 
management's representation that thr listing is complete. Select all misappropriations on the listing, 
ohtain supporting documentation, and observe that the entity reported the inisappropriation(s) to the 
legislative auditor and the district attorney of the parish in which the entity is domiciled as required 
by R.S. 24.523. 

B. Observe that the entity has posted, on its premises and website, the notice required by R.S. 24:523 
concerning the reporting of misappropriation, fraud, waste, or abuse of puhlic funds. 

13) InfOrnuttion Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity 

perfinmed the pvcetlures below and discussed the results with management. 

A. Perform the following procedures: 

i Obtain and inspect the entity's most recent documentation that it has hacked up its critical data (if 
there is no written documentation, then inquire of personnel responsible for backing up critical 
data) and observe evidence that such backup (a) occurred within the past week, (b) was not stored 
on the government's local server or network, and (c) was encrypted 

ii. Obtain and inspect the entity's most recent documentation that it has testedA erified that its 
backups can be restmed (if there is no written documentation, then inquire of personnel 
responsible for testing. verifying backup restoration) and observe evidence that the 
test verification was successfully performed within the past 3 months. 
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iii. Obtain a listing of the entity's computers currently in use and their related locations., and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 computers and 
observe while management demonstrates that the selected computers have current and active 
antivirus software and that the operating system and accounting system software in use are 
currently supported by the vendor. 

B. Randomly select 5 terminated employees (or all terminated employees if less than 5) using the list of 
terminated employees obtained in procedure #9C. Observe evidence that the selected terminated 
employees have been rernoved or disabled from the network. 

C. Using the 5 randomly selected employees.officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure #9A, obtain 
cybersecurity training docurnentation frorn management, and ohserve that the documentation 
demonstrates that the following employees:officials with access to the agency's information 
technology assets have completed cybersecurity training as required by R.S. 42:1267. The 
requirernents are a) hired before June 9. 2020 — cornpleted training: and h) hired on or after June 9, 
2020 — completed training within 30 days of initial service or employment. 

14)Prevention of Sexual Haru.ssnient 

A. Using the 5 randomly selected employees.'officials frorn Payroll and Personnel procedure OA, ohtain 
sexual harassment training documentatkni from management, and observe that the documentation 
demonstrates each employee.official completed at least one hour of sexual harassment training during 
the calendar year as required by R.S. 42:343. 

B. Observe that the entity has posted its sexual harassment policy and complaint procedure on its 
website (or in a conspicuou.s location on the entity's prernises if the entity does not have a website). 

C. Obtain the entity's annual sexual harassment report ibr the current fiscal period, observe that the 
report was dated on or before February 1, and observe that the report includes the applicable 
requirernents of R.S. 42:344: 

i. Number and percentage of public servants in the agency who have completed the training 
requirements; 

ii. Number of sexual harassment complaints received by the agency; 

iii. Number of complaints which resulted in a finding that sexual harassment occurred; 

iv. Number of complaints in which the findine of sexual harassment resulted in discipline or 
corrective action; and 

v. Amount of time it took to resolve each complaint. 

Exceptions 

Exceptions found as a result of applyiny the procedures listed above are as follows. 

Written Policies and Procedures 

1. Written policies and procedures for purchasing do not address the subcategories (2) how vendors 
are added to the vendor list. (4) controls to ensure compliance with the public hid law and (5) 
documentation required to be maintained for all bids and price quotes. 

The City does not have written policies and procedures for contractinE4. 

3. The City did not provide written policies and procedures for travel and expense reimbursement. 
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4. The City did not provide written policies and procedures for credit cards. 

5. Written policies and procedures for ethics do not address the subcategories (1) the prohibitions as 
defined in Louisiana Revised Statute (R.S.) 42.1111-1121, (3) system to monitor possible ethics 
violations, and (4) a requirement that documentation is maintained to demonstrate that all 
employees were notified of any changes to the entitys ethics policy. 

6. Written policies and procedures for debt do not address the subcategory (2) continuing 
disclosureiEMMA reporting requirements. 

7. Written policies and procedures for information technology disaster recovery. business continuity 
do not address the subcategories (5) timely application of all available system and software 
patchesiupdates, and (6) identification of personnel, processes, and tools needed to recover 
operations after a critical e‘ent. 

8. Written policies and procedures for the prevention of sexuai harassment do not address the 
subcategories (2) annual employee training and (3) annual reporting. 

Board or Finance Committee 

g. The City Council did not receive written updates of the progress of resolving audit findings, 
according to management's corrective action plan at each meeting until findings were considered 
fully resolved. 

Bank Reconciliations 

10. The bank reconciliations for the five t 5) accounts selected did not include written evidence of 
management's review within one month of preparation of the reconciliation. 

Collections 

11. Thr person responsible thr collecting cash also prepares the bank deposits at one (1) of thr two (2) 
collection locations 

12. Cash registers are shared at one (1) of the two (2) collection locations. 

Non-Payroll Disbursements 

13. The individual responsible for processing payments is also responsible for mailing payments at 
the City's one (1) location. 

14. Three (3) of the tive (5) disbursements selected did not include evidence that two or more 
employees were involved in initiating a purchase request. approving a purchase. and placing an 
order. making the purchase. 

Travel and Tras el-Related Expense Reimbursements 

15. Three (3) of the five (5) reimbursements for mileage were reimbursed at a rate more than those 
rates established either by the State of Louisiana or the U.S. General Services Administration due 
to rounding the mileage rate to the nearest hundredth. 
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16. One (1) of the (5) reimbursements of actual costs was not supported by an original itemized 
receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased. 

Ethics 

17. Documentation demonstrating completion of at least one hour of ethics training during the 
calendar year was not provided for one (1) of the five (5) selected employees. The employee 
position is seasonal. 

Preventing Sexual Harassment 

18. Documentation demonstrating completion of at least one hour of sexual harassment training during 
the calendar year was not provided for one (1) of the five (5) selected employees. The employee 
position is seasonal. 

19. The City has an inactive link to its sexual harassment policy and complaint procedures on its 
website. The policy is posted on its premises. 

20. The annual sexual harassment report required by RS 42.344 was not dated on or before Fehruary 
1. 

Management's Response 

The City concurs with the exceptions and is working to address the deficiencies identified. 

We were engaged by the City to perform this agreed-upon procedures engagement and conducted our 
engagement in accordance with attestation standards established by the Amencan Institute of Certified Puhlic 
Accountants and applicable provisions ot Government Auditing Standards., issued by the United States 
Comptroller General. We were not engaged to and did not conduct an examination or review engagement, the 
ohjective of which would be the expression of an opinion or conclusion, respectively, on those control and 
compliance areas identified in the SAUPs. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion or conclusion Had 
we performed additional procedures, other matters might ha% e come to our attention that would have been 
reported to you. 

We are required to be independent ot the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to our ageed-upon procedures engagement. 

This report is intended solely to describe the scope of testing performed on those control and 
compliance areas identified in the SAUPs, and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
control or compliance. This report is intended solely for the information of and use by the City's inanagement 
and the LLA and is not intended to he and should not be used hy anyone other than these specified parties. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose In accordance with Louisiana Revised Statute 
24:513, this report is distributed by the LLA as a public document. 

Kolder, Maven tt Company, LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Morgan City. Louisiana 
October 29, 2024 
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